
City Council Agenda

OCTOBER 13, 2015
6:00 p.m.
City of Turlock Yosemite Room
156 S. Broadway, Turlock, California

Mayor
Gary Soiseth

City Manager
Council Members Roy W. Wasden

William DeHart, Jr. Steven Nascimento City Clerk
Matthew Jacob Amy Bublak Kellie E. Weaver

Vice Mayor City Attorney
Phaedra A. Norton

1. A. CALL TO ORDER

B. SALUTE TO THE FLAG

2. PROCLAMATIONS, RECOGNITIONS, APPOINTMENTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS &
PRESENTATIONS:

A. Recognition: Strike Team Personnel - Turlock Fire Battalion Chief Bill Becker; Turlock
Fire Captains Dave Bickle and Kain Packwood; Fire Fighters Dale Melden, Nate Benner
and Steven Kramer; Turlock Police Sergeant Scott Ellis and Police Officers Joe Dusel
and Michael Stapler

B. Presentation: Jr. Iron Chef Competition by Allison Van Guilder, Director of Parks,
Recreation & Public Facilities

SPEAKER CARDS: To accommodate those wishing to address the Council and allow for staff follow-up, speaker cards are available
for any agendized topic or any other topic delivered under Public Comment.  Please fill out and provide the Comment Card to the City
Clerk or Police Officer.

NOTICE REGARDING NON-ENGLISH SPEAKERS: The Turlock City Council meetings are conducted in English and translation to
other languages is not provided.  Please make arrangements for an interpreter if necessary.

EQUAL ACCESS POLICY: If you have a disability which affects your access to public facilities or services, please contact the City
Clerk’s Office at (209) 668-5540.  The City is committed to taking all reasonable measures to provide access to its facilities and
services.  Please allow sufficient time for the City to process and respond to your request.

NOTICE: Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54954.3, any member of the public may directly address the City Council
on any item appearing on the agenda, including Consent Calendar and Public Hearing items, before or during the City Council’s
consideration of the item.

AGENDA PACKETS: Prior to the City Council meeting, a complete Agenda Packet is available for review on the City’s website at
www.cityofturlock.org and in the City Clerk’s Office at 156 S. Broadway, Suite 230, Turlock, during normal business hours.  Materials
related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Council after distribution of the Agenda Packet are also available for public
inspection in the City Clerk’s Office.  Such documents may be available on the City’s website subject to staff’s ability to post the
documents before the meeting.



Council Agenda
10/13/15

Page 2

3. A. SPECIAL BRIEFINGS

1. CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY STANISLAUS
Maggie White, Student Government Relations Coordinator

B. STAFF UPDATES

1. Policy Goals and Implementation Plan (Executive Staff)
2. Capital Projects and Building Activity (Pitcock)
3. Turkey Trot Fun Run (Van Guilder)
4. Sustainable Groundwater Management Act Workshop (Cooke)

C. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
This is the time set aside for members of the public to directly address the City Council on any item of interest to
the public that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the City Council and to address the Council on any item
on tonight’s agenda, including Consent Calendar items. You will be allowed five (5) minutes for your comments.
If you wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda, you may be asked to defer your remarks until the Council
addresses the matter.

No action or discussion may be undertaken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda, except that
Council may refer the matter to staff or request it be placed on a future agenda.

4. A. DECLARATION OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND DISQUALIFICATIONS

5. CONSENT CALENDAR
Information concerning the consent items listed hereinbelow has been forwarded to each Councilmember prior to this
meeting for study.  Unless the Mayor, a Councilmember or member of the audience has questions concerning the
Consent Calendar, the items are approved at one time by the Council.  The action taken by the Council in approving
the consent items is set forth in the explanation of the individual items.

A. Resolution:  Accepting Demands of 9/10/15 in the amount of $1,238,554.73; Demands
of 9/17/15 in the amount of $611,939.96

B. Motion:  Accepting Minutes of Special Joint Council/Parks, Arts & Recreation
Commission Meeting of September 22, 2015; Minutes of Special Meeting of September
22, 2015; Minutes of Regular Meeting of September 22, 2015; Minutes of Special
Meeting of September 24, 2015

C. 1. Motion: Approving Contract Change Order No. 2 (Final) in the amount of $2,240
(Fund 410) for City Project No.15-23, "Hedstrom Road Storm Drain Improvements,"
bringing the contract total to $81,783
2. Motion: Accepting improvements for City Project No. 15-23, "Hedstrom Road Storm
Drain Improvements," and authorizing the City Engineer to file a Notice of Completion
3. Resolution: Appropriating $30,900 to account number 410-51-534.51300
“Construction Repairs/Improvements,” to be funded via a transfer from Fund 410 “Water
Quality Control (WQC)” reserves, for City Project No. 15-23, “Hedstrom Road Storm
Drain Improvements,” to complete the necessary funding required for this project

D. Motion: Reaffirming the declaration of emergency made by the City Manager and
declaring that there is a need to continue with the replacement of the HVAC facilities at
the utilities shop

E. Resolution: Extending the Adopted Fee Deferral Program for the CFF, NWTSP and
WISP Impact Fees for an additional twenty-four (24) months



Council Agenda
10/13/15

Page 3

F. Resolution: Approving the purchase of reserved wastewater capacity for Hilmar Cheese
Company, Inc., for the dry milk processing facility located at 3600 W. Canal Drive,
pursuant to Turlock Municipal Code § 6-4-1111

G. Motion: Approving the First Amended and Restated Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) for
the North Valley Regional Recycled Water Program (NVRRWP)

H. 1. Motion:  Accepting the staff report on proposed recycled water program rules and
regulations
2. Resolution: Adopting the Recycled Water Program establishing the rules,
regulations, standard specifications and drawings governing the use of recycled water
produced and distributed by the City of Turlock

I. Motion: Approving Amendment No. 1 to the airport consulting services agreement
between the City of Turlock and Stantec Consulting Services, Inc.

J. Motion: Authorizing the Mayor or City Manager or designee to execute the service
maintenance agreement with Park Place Technologies to provide full preventive
maintenance for City of Turlock server systems, in a total amount not to exceed
$2,580.48 for a twelve (12) month period

K. Resolution: Appropriating $10,000 to account number 240-00-000-213.44030_054
“Minor Equipment-Public Safety Facility Repairs & Improvement” from Fund 240 “Small
Equipment Replacement-Police Services” reserve balance for equipment and supplies
necessary for the repair and maintenance of the Public Safety Facility

L. Motion: Approving the purchase of four (4) replacement unmarked/staff vehicles for the
Turlock Police Department from the National Auto Fleet Group, through the National
Joint Power Alliance (NJPA) National Automotive Contract No. 102811-NAF, pursuant to
the Turlock Municipal Code, Title 2, Chapter 7, Section 08(b)(5), without compliance to
the formal bid procedure, in an amount not to exceed $108,380

M. Motion: Approving the City of Turlock’s participation in a countywide investigation
protocol for Commercially Sexually Exploited Children and authorizing the Police Chief
to sign the agreement

N. Resolution: Appropriating $14,765 to account number 116-30-305.44030_000 “Minor
Equipment Miscellaneous” from Fund 116 “Special Public Safety – Fire” reserve balance
for the purchase of three (3) thermal imaging cameras

O. Resolution: Affirming the City Manager’s action of having signed and submitted an
acceptance of an allocation of funds and the execution of a grant agreement, and
appropriating funds for the Federal Fiscal Year 2015, Edward Byrne Memorial Justice
Assistance Grant (JAG) funds from the United States Department of Justice, Office of
Justice Programs, in the amount of $27,668

P. Resolution: Approving modifications to the job description for the position of Firefighter,
effective October 13, 2015

Q. Motion: Approving minor modifications to the agreement between the City of Turlock
and the Stanislaus Regional Water Authority (“SRWA”) for interim legal services and
authorizing the Mayor or City Manager to execute said agreement

6. FINAL READINGS:  None



Council Agenda
10/13/15

Page 4

7. PUBLIC HEARINGS
Challenges in court to any of the items listed below, may be limited to only those issues raised at the public hearing
described in this notice, or in written correspondence delivered to the Turlock City Council at, or prior to, the public
hearing.

A. Request to accept the results of the Proposition 218 process for the consideration of
increasing the monthly solid waste fees/charges effective December 1, 2015 and
amending the Turlock Municipal Code Title 6, Chapter 3, Article 1, Section 01 titled
Garbage, Rubbish, and Garden Refuse to implement updated fees/charges for property
related solid waste services. (Cooke)
Recommended Action:
Motion: Accepting the results of the Proposition 218 process for the consideration of
increasing the monthly solid waste fees/charges effective December 1, 2015

Note:  Consideration of the below Ordinance is contingent upon approval of the
above Motion.

Ordinance: Amending Turlock Municipal Code Title 6, Chapter 3, Article 1, Section 01
titled Garbage, Rubbish, and Garden Refuse to implement updated fees/charges for
property related solid waste services

8. SCHEDULED MATTERS: None

9. COUNCIL ITEMS FOR FUTURE CONSIDERATION

10. COUNCIL COMMENTS
Councilmembers may provide a brief report on notable topics of interest.  The Brown Act does not allow discussion or
action by the legislative body.

11. CLOSED SESSION

A. Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.9(d)(2)
“For the purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of the following
circumstances exist...  A point has been reached where, in the opinion of the legislative body of
the local agency on the advice of its legal counsel, based on existing facts and circumstances,
there is a significant exposure to litigation against the local agency.”
Potential Cases:  (6 cases)

B. Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.9(d)(1)
“For purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of the following
circumstances exist…  Litigation, to which the local agency is a party, has been initiated formally.”
Name of Case: County of Stanislaus v. City of Modesto, City of Turlock; Modesto

Garbage Co., Inc.; and Does 1 through 100, inclusive



Council Agenda
10/13/15

Page 5

C. Public Employee Performance Evaluation, Cal. Gov’t Code §54957(b) (1)
“Subject to paragraph (2), this chapter shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body of a
local agency from holding closed sessions during a regular or special meeting to consider the
appointment, employment, evaluation of performance, discipline, or dismissal of a public
employee or to hear complaints or charges brought against the employee by another person or
employee unless the employee requests a public session.”
Title:  City Manager

D. Conference with Labor Negotiators, Cal. Gov’t Code §54957.6
“Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency may hold closed
sessions with the local agency's designated representatives regarding the salaries, salary
schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of its represented and
unrepresented employees, and, for represented employees, any other matter within the statutorily
provided scope of representation.”
Agency Negotiator: Mayor Gary Soiseth
Unrepresented Employees: City Manager

12. ADJOURNMENT











































































































































EXHIBIT I

Rev. 6/30/15

City of Turlock Recycled
Water Program

Rules & Regulations for
Recycled Water User



i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abbreviations………………………………………………………………….…………………….1

Introduction ………………………………………………………………………………………2

Section I - Planning for Recycled Water Use……………………………… …………………...3

Section II - Standard Specifications and Operations & Maintenance Requirements to

Receive Recycled Water and to Expand/Modify Recycled Water Systems From a Fixed
Recycled Water Distribution System……………………………………………………………..4

Section III - Mobile Commercial Use of Recycled Water………………………………….….19

Section IV - Mobile Residential Use of Recycled Water……………………………………...22

Appendix A - Definitions…………………………………………………………………............223

Appendix B - Cross-Connection Control Test Procedure for On-Site Recycled
Water Systems……………………………………………………………………………….…25

Appendix C - Sample Advisory Sign……………………………………………………………28

Appendix D - Sample Forms…………………………………………………………………….29

Appendix E - References………………………………………………………………………..36



Abbreviations
Abbreviations used throughout this document are listed below for reference. Definitions for
terms are listed in Appendix A - Definitions.

AWWA American Water Works Association

DDW Division of Drinking Water, formerly the California Department of Public Health Drinking
Water Field Operators Branch (Stockton, CA)

NPDES National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System

City City of Turlock

RP Device Reduced Pressure Principal Backflow Prevention Device

RWQCB Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board

Title 22 California Code of Regulations, Title 22

UPC Uniform Plumbing Code



2

Introduction
Purpose
This document contains information about the City of Turlock’s (herein referred to as “City”)
Recycled Water Program including the rules, regulations, and guidance for the operation and
expansion of on-site recycled water facilities, agricultural use of recycled water, mobile
residential landscape recycled water use and mobile commercial use of recycled water
(hereinafter “Rules and Regulations”). This document covers requirements for future and
existing sites and should give the User information necessary to meet all applicable regulations.
Every effort has been made to ensure that facilities operated and expanded on the basis of this
document will comply with all existing codes, laws, statutes, and regulations concerning the use
of recycled water.

Authority and Sources
This document draws on a number of references concerning the use of recycled water. Of
primary importance are the General Waste Discharge Requirements for Recycled Water Use as
adopted by the State Water Resources Control Board Order WQ 2014-0090-DWQ, the
regulations regarding the use of recycled water (“Title 22") circulated by the SWRCB Division of
Drinking Water (DDW) formerly titled State of California Department of Public Health and the
Guidelines for Distribution of Nonpotable Water developed by the California-Nevada Section of
the American Water Works Association (AWWA).

This document was developed specifically for User of the Turlock Recycled Water Program and
it takes precedence over general guidelines (including AWWA guidance documents) where
differences are noted. Since codes, laws, statutes, and regulations can change without prior
approval or knowledge of the City; the City does not assume any liability for errors in this
document. It is the responsibility of the User to obtain written approval from the City before
initiating any changes to their on-site recycled water system or use of recycled water provided
by the City. Interested parties may contact the City for copies of documents referenced in the
Rules and Regulations.

Acknowledgement
In preparing this document, the City acknowledges the assistance of a number of agencies
including DDW and the Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board (Regional Board).

Severability
If any section, subsection, clause, or phrase of these Rules and Regulations is determined to be
invalid the remaining portions of these Rules and Regulations shall remain in effect.

City of Turlock Contact Information
Any questions regarding the Rules and Regulations should be addressed to the City’s Recycled
Water Program Coordinator:
Wayne Clay
Phone: (209) 668-5590 Cell: (209) 535-0287
Email: wclay@turlock.ca.us



3

Section I - Planning for Recycled Water Use

Determination to Provide Recycled Water
Since the beginning of 2006, the City of Turlock has operated a disinfected tertiary wastewater
treatment system. Tertiary treated wastewater from the Turlock Regional Water Quality Control
Facility (RWQCF) discharges year-round to the San Joaquin River. In addition, the City also
provides tertiary treated water for the Walnut Energy Center Co-Generation Facility owned by
Turlock Irrigation District (TID) for cooling water purposes as well as irrigation for the City’s
Pedretti Park Sports Complex. As the City’s Recycled Water Program expands, additional
users may be added to the system.  However, the City recognizes that future expansions of the
program will require application to the Regional Board for coverage under State Water
Resources Control Board (SWRCB) Order WQ 2014-0090-DWQ “water reclamation
requirements” and the submission of a Notice of Intent, a Title 22 Engineering Report to the
Regional Board and the DDW and any appropriate environmental reports to comply with the
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).

Protection of Public Health
The City reserves the right to take any action necessary with respect to the operation of the
User recycled water system to safeguard the public health. If real or potential hazards are
evidenced any time during construction or operation of the recycled water system, the City
reserves the right and has the authority to terminate recycled water service immediately, without
notice. These hazards include, but are not limited to cross-connections with the potable system,
improper tagging, signing, marking, or unapproved/prohibited uses.

Approved Uses of Recycled Water
Approved uses of disinfected tertiary recycled water may include, but are not limited to:
agricultural, water for industrial purposes (including process cooling water) residential landscape
irrigation, construction water, and other uses as approved by the City identified within Title 22
California Code of Regulations.

Every user of recycled water must have prior written approval from the City before receiving
disinfected tertiary recycled water. The State of California regulates the use of recycled water,
pursuant to Title 22 and SWRCB requirements. Sites may only use disinfected tertiary recycled
water for uses specifically approved by the City, DDW and the SWRCB.

This Recycled Water Program covers the proper use of recycled water for Industrial Processes
(fixed system), Mobile Commercial use (soil compaction, dust control, cement mixing, and
landscape irrigation), and Mobile Residential use for landscape, gardening and water features.
Every user of recycled water must have prior approval from the City before receiving recycled
water. Sites may only use recycled water for those uses specifically approved by the City and
DDW.

Local Authority
The City of Turlock is the recognized local authority. The local authority is the provider of
recycled water to the user and is responsible for implementation and enforcement of the Rules
and Regulations.



4

Procedures for Obtaining Recycled Water Service
Potential recycled water users must submit an application for a recycled water permit and
submit plans for review and approval, as appropriate. Permit approval will be contingent upon
evidence that all State regulatory requirements including Title 22 Engineering Study, Notice of
Intent, CEQA and applicable design requirements for a recycled water system are satisfied and
that the system as designed can be operated in accordance with the Program Rules and
Regulations. Upon complying with all provisions of the permit, the City will furnish recycled
water to the user.

SECTION II - STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS AND OPERATION &
MAINTENANCE TO RECEIVE RECYCLED WATER AND TO
EXPAND/MODIFY RECYCLED WATER SYSTEMS FROM A FIXED
RECYCLED WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM FOR INDUSTRIAL
PURPOSES, LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION AND LANDSCAPE
IMPOUNDMENTS

This section applies to those Users that are approved to connect to the City’s recycled water
distribution system for industrial process water use, landscape irrigation, landscape
impoundments or similar allowable uses of recycled water.

Exceptions for Existing Landscape Irrigation Systems
With the exception of pipe identification and pipe separation, facilities where the existing buried
piping system is converted from potable or non-potable to recycled water must meet the same
requirements as new facilities. Any new buried piping added to existing piping must meet the
identification and separation requirements for new systems. In addition, any existing piping four
(4) inches or larger uncovered for any reason during construction must be marked according to
pipe identification requirements to the extent feasible.

Separation Requirements
The minimum separation distances set forth in this section shall be measured from the nearest
outside edge of each pipe barrel.

Horizontal Separation
All recycled water service laterals and meters must be at least ten (10) feet (horizontal
separation) from the nearest potable water facility, including pipelines, meters, and hydrants.

A minimum horizontal separation of ten (10) feet between parallel, buried recycled and potable
water pipelines should be maintained. If a ten foot horizontal separation is not practical, a
separation of at least four (4) feet may be allowed subject to special construction conditions.

Solvent welded PVC pipe on recycled water system
Restrained PVC pipe for recycled or potable water
Restrained joint ductile iron pipe on recycled water system
Soldered copper pipe on recycled water system
Sleeve potable pipe
Sleeve recycled pipe



5

Vertical Separation at Crossings
Where a buried constant pressure recycled water pipeline crosses a buried potable water
pipeline, it must be located a minimum of one (1) foot below the potable water pipeline.
Recycled water pipelines are allowed over potable water pipelines with a minimum of one (1)
foot vertical separation if a full standard pipe length is centered over the crossing, or the
recycled water pipeline is installed in a pipe sleeve which extends a minimum of ten (10) feet on
either side of the potable water piping.

When expanding or modifying the recycled systems, designers should check to see that laterals
and meters that serve their site meet these requirements. In the event that a horizontal
separation is less than the requirement, designers should bring this to the attention of the
developer and the City before proceeding.

Pipe Class

Type of Recycled Water Piping Size Class
Constant pressure PVC 1.5” diameter and smaller

2.0” diameter and larger
Schedule 40 or greater
Class 315 of greater

Intermittent pressure PVC lateral
piping

Class 200 or greater

Copper piping Type “K” or greater

Depth of Cover and Thrust Blocking
All on-site recycled water piping must be buried to a minimum depth from finished grade to top
of pipe (minimum cover) according to the following schedule:

Type of Recycled Water Piping Minimum Cover

Intermittent Pressure (all sizes) 12”

Constant Pressure, 2.5” diameter and smaller 18”

Constant Pressure, 3” diameter and larger 24”

All recycled water piping other than PVC piping with solvent welded joints must be protected
against movement with thrust blocks or restrained joints or other approved methods conforming
to UPC Section 609.1.4.

Backflow Prevention
Since recycled water is not used for drinking purposes, backflow protection is not typically
necessary on recycled water systems. However, the City must ensure the User does not
compromise the quality of the recycled water in the distribution system. Therefore, the City will
require backflow protection on the Users recycled water system if it is determined there is a
backflow hazard on-site which threatens the integrity of the distribution system. Examples of
sites that may be required to install backflow protection devices are:

Irrigation sites where direct chemical fertilizer injection systems are installed on the irrigation
system
Irrigation sites where recycled water impoundment may cause a backflow hazard



6

In such cases, backflow prevention devices may be required at the recycled water service
connection or at specific, on-site locations as appropriate to the situation. Backflow prevention
assemblies must be shown on plans and a type approved by DDW. It will be the responsibility
of the User to provide test reports for on-site backflow prevention devices. Devices must be
properly maintained, inspected quarterly, and tested at least annually. Backflow prevention
devices, when required on recycled water systems, must be conspicuously labeled. Test
equipment must be dedicated for use only with recycled water. Backflow testing equipment used
for recycled water must not be reused on potable water systems.

Protection of Public Potable Water Systems

Although not normally a part of on-site recycled water irrigation systems, it must be noted that
backflow prevention devices are a required and important part of potable water service
connections to sites where recycled water is used. At premises where both recycled water and
potable water are present in separate piping systems with no interconnection, a reduced
pressure (RP) principal backflow prevention device must be located as close as practical to the
downstream side of every potable water meter.

All RP devices must be inspected quarterly and tested at least annually. The User is responsible
for coordinating the testing. An AWWA-certified backflow prevention device tester recognized
by the City must perform the device testing. Test reports must be provided to the City and the
User, and the City and User must maintain records for a minimum of three (3) years.

No Cross-Connections
No cross-connections are allowed between the recycled water system and any other water
system.

Prevent Overspray, Runoff, and Ponding
Irrigation systems must be designed and operated to minimize overspray, runoff, and ponding.
Designers must specify appropriate irrigation devices to prevent overspray. In the event that,
during the coverage test, noticeable overspray, runoff, and/or ponding is observed, facilities
must be adjusted or removed and relocated as needed.

Protection of Drinking Fountains and Outdoor Eating Areas
Drinking fountains, outdoor eating areas, and other similar facilities (e.g. snack bars) located
within the approved use area must be protected from overspray or contact with recycled water.
Protection may be accomplished by relocating the irrigation system, or relocating or modifying
the protected facilities.

Protection of Aquifers
Irrigation systems must be designed so that irrigation with recycled water does not take place
within 50 feet of any domestic water supply well. In addition, recycled water impoundments must
be located at least 100 feet (horizontal separation) from any domestic water supply well.

Hose Bibs
Hose bibs are not allowed on recycled water systems where the general public is allowed
access. Only quick couplers that differ from those used on the potable water system shall be
used on the portions of the recycled water piping system in areas subject to public access.



7

Design Approval

Before any existing recycled water system is modified, on-site recycled water system plans
prepared by the User must be approved by the City, the DDW and the RWQCB. Approval will
be contingent upon evidence that all applicable design requirements for a recycled water
system are satisfied and that the system as designed can be operated in accordance with the
City Rules and Regulations. While the City and the DDW review plans, the User is responsible
for meeting all applicable requirements, even those requirements not shown on the approved
plans.

INFORMATION REQUIRED ON RECYCLED WATER USE FROM A FIXED RECYCLED
WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM FOR INDUSTRIAL PURPOSES, LANDSCAPE
IRRIGATION AND LANDSCAPE IMPOUNDMENTS

The following is a brief list of the information required on the plans for an on-site recycled water
system, including modifications to existing systems. Note that compliance with every item on
this list does not guarantee the plans will be approved since regulations and policies may
change and some sites may require additional provisions.

Indicate all sources of water on the plans.
Show the location and size of all water meters on the piping plans.
Show the location and type of all backflow prevention devices for potable water systems
(generally, backflow prevention devices are not used on recycled water systems).
Show location and type of all strainers, pressure regulating valves, and master valves.
Show location of all water pipelines (including potable and well lines) crossing the site. If space
does not permit this information to be placed on the irrigation plans, then a separate site or
utility plan can be used to show this information. Exception for an existing irrigation system
converting to recycled water: Although it may not be possible to show the location of all water
pipelines at this type of site, all locations where future recycled water piping must be separated
from the potable water piping must be clearly indicated on the plans.
Clearly identify all adjacent streets and locations of all major improvements on the site.
Show the location of all drinking fountains, outdoor eating areas, and other public facilities
supplied with recycled or potable water service. Public facilities include, but are not limited to,
restrooms, snack bars, swimming pools, wading pools, decorative fountains, and showers.
Show all pipelines feeding all of these facilities.
Show the location of all wells, lakes, ponds, reservoirs, or other water impoundments located on
the site or within 100 feet of the site, and indicate the type of water source.
Indicate the separation between potable and recycled water lines meets minimum requirements.
Show appropriate protections as required where recycled water pipelines cross over potable
water pipelines.
When potable water piping is not present on the site, state in a note that the cross-connection
test required by the City is waived for sites where potable water piping is not present.
Show all details necessary to properly expand/modify the system, including the details
conforming to the City’s requirements. The purpose of the details are to show the materials and
methods necessary to clearly identify all water systems on the site.
For irrigation equipment include a legend specifying all materials of construction for the system,
including:
A pipe schedule listing pipe sizes, materials of construction, and type of water conveyed by the
piping.
A listing of valve types, including quick coupling valves.
All pertinent information for each type of sprinkler head and/or emitter.



8

Indication of purple-colored pipe with recycled water stenciling and quick coupling valves with
purple covers where recycled water is used.

All sites using recycled water must post clearly visible advisory signs, indicating the use of
recycled water at the site (see Section IV for installation criteria and Appendix C for examples of
a sign design). Show proposed sign locations on plans.
For many sites, typical locations for signs are at the property line near crosswalks, at driveway
entrances, and at outdoor eating areas.
For streetscapes (parkways, frontage or backup landscaping), place signs at street corners and
entrance areas as appropriate to notify a passersby. In any case, signs must be placed no
further than 1,000 feet apart.
For medians, a sign should be placed at the beginning and end of every median, and
approximately midway equidistant from the ends of the median for longer median areas.
For decorative fountains, ponds, and other water features, see the Decorative Fountains, Ponds
and Other Water Features section for more information.

INSTALLATION AND CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION FOR RECYCLED WATER FROM A
FIXED RECYCLED WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM USE IN INDUSTRIAL PURPOSES,
LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION AND LANDSCAPE IMPOUNDMENTS

INSTALLATION CRITERIA

Pipe Identification
All new piping used in expanding/modifying the existing system must be installed according to
the approved plans and marked per these requirements to clearly distinguish between recycled
water and potable water systems.

1. Identification of Buried Recycled Water Lines
The use of purple colored pipe with continuous wording "RECYCLED WATER – DO NOT
DRINK" printed on opposite sides of the pipe is the preferred method for identification of new
buried recycled water piping (constant-pressure mainlines/intermittent-pressure laterals). Pipes
must be laid with wording facing upwards.

An acceptable alternative: all new buried recycled water lines (constant-pressure
mainlines/intermittent-pressure laterals) must be identified by continuous lettering on three inch
(3") minimum width, purple marking tape with one inch black or white contrasting lettering
bearing the continuous wording "RECYCLED WATER – DO NOT DRINK.” This tape must run
continuously on top of all piping (mainlines and laterals) and must be attached to piping with
plastic tape banded around the marking tape and the pipe every five feet on center. Marking
tape must extend to all valve boxes and/or vaults and exposed piping.

2. Identification of Existing Buried Recycled Water Lines
Existing buried piping which will be converted to recycled water use does not need to be marked
unless the piping becomes exposed, such as during installation of new pipeline, modification of
the system or maintenance of existing pipe. The exposed section must be marked as indicated
above for new piping.

3. Identification of Above Grade Recycled Water Lines
All above grade recycled water pipelines, whether new or existing, must be labeled with the
words "RECYCLED WATER - DO NOT DRINK" and color-coded purple to differentiate recycled



9

water pipelines from potable water pipelines. If purple identification tape is used to label the pipe
and/or color code the pipe, the tape must be adhesive, permanent, and resistant to
environmental conditions. Purple bands may also be painted around the circumference of the
pipe at ten-foot intervals for color-coding. Purple PVC pipe is not an acceptable alternative for
color-coding because the purple color will fade when exposed to sunlight.

4. Identification of Recycled Water Lines Inside Structures
Exposed (not buried) constant pressure recycled water irrigation pipelines, such as copper or
galvanized pipelines, that might be used in a structure such as a parking garage to route
recycled water, must be identified per UPC Appendix J, with the exception that the labeling on
the piping must read “RECYCLED WATER – DO NOT DRINK.” Intermittent-pressure lines
inside a structure must be identified by affixing decals to this piping at ten-foot intervals and
wherever the piping changes directions. These decals must be purple in color and must be
imprinted in nominal one-inch-high, black, uppercase letters, with the words “RECYCLED
WATER – DO NOT DRINK,” and must be adhesive, permanent, and resistant to environmental
conditions.

Valve Boxes
All remote control valves, isolation valves, pressure reducing valves, and strainers for on-site
recycled water systems must be installed below grade in a valve box. Green, black, or purple
valve boxes and lids are acceptable.

Valve boxes must have an advisory label or “nameplate” permanently molded into or affixed
onto the lid with rivets, bolts, etc. Labels must be constructed of a purple weatherproof material
with the wording "RECYCLED WATER - DO NOT DRINK" permanently stamped or molded into
the label.

Quick Coupling Valves
The portions of the recycled water piping system that are in areas subject to access by the
general public shall not include hose bibs. Only quick couplers that differ from those used on
the potable water system shall be used on the portions of the recycled water piping system in
areas subject to public access

New quick coupling valves must be made specifically for recycled water use. New quick
coupling valves must be 3/4-inch or one-inch nominal size and of brass construction with a
maximum working pressure of 150 psi. The covers on all new quick coupling valves must be
permanently attached and made of purple rubber or vinyl with the words "RECYCLED WATER-
DO NOT DRINK" imprinted on the locking cover. To prevent unauthorized use, the valve must
only be operated by a special coupler key for opening and closing the valve. New quick coupling
valves must be installed approximately 12 inches from walks, curbs, header boards or paved
areas. Quick coupling valves used in the recycled water system must be installed in a valve box,
where applicable, and a recycled water identification tag must be permanently attached to the
quick coupling valve or the inside of the box so that it is clearly visible when the box lid is
removed.

Any wands, sprinkler heads, fittings, or other attachments used in conjunction with the quick
coupling valves must be labeled with the words, "RECYCLED WATER - DO NOT DRINK.”
Attachments used in a recycled water system must not be used in a potable water system.

The installation of quick coupling valves on a potable water system in the vicinity of a recycled
water irrigation system must be of a different type to prevent accidental cross-connection or



10

contamination by accidentally interconnecting or interchanging attachments. Keys and
attachments must not be interchangeable. Retrofitted potable water system quick coupling
valves must be modified to meet standards for new recycled water quick coupling valves.

Other Valves and Devices

1. Isolation Valves
New and existing isolation valves must be installed in a marked valve box with a recycled water
identification tag on the valve operator or, if the valve operator is too deep to reach they shall be
installed at the top of the valve box extension.

2. Remote Control Valves
New and existing remote control valves must be installed in a marked valve box with a recycled
water identification tag on the valve.

3. Pressure Regulating Valves and Strainers
New and existing pressure regulating valves and strainers must be installed in a marked valve
box with a recycled water identification tag on the valve/strainer.

4. Water Meters, Pumps, Pump Control Valves, Air/Vacuum Relief Valves
The above referenced recycled water devices must be tagged with a recycled water
identification tag.

5. Recycled Water Backflow Prevention Devices
If applicable, these devices must be tagged with a recycled water identification tag.

6. Potable Water System Devices
At recycled water use sites where potable water is used, all potable water meters and above
grade water devices, such as backflow prevention devices and hose bibs, must be tagged or
labeled with potable water identification tags or labels.

Identification Tags and Stickers
Identification tags and stickers must be weatherproof and durable, such as plastic or plastic
coated. Recycled water identification tags and stickers must have a purple background with
permanent black lettering stating "RECYCLED WATER - DO NOT DRINK. Potable water
identification tags and labels must have a blue background with "POTABLE WATER" in
permanent black lettering.

Irrigation Controllers
New recycled water system controllers must be automatic with multiple start/stop times for any
24 hour period and installed according to the approved plans and local codes. All recycled water
system controllers must be identified by affixing a sticker or “nameplate” to the outside of the
controller cabinet, the inside of the controller cabinet, or the outside or inside of the controller
cabinet enclosure. Stickers or nameplates must be weatherproof, and must contain wording in
English and Spanish indicating the controller is for a recycled water system.

Irrigation and Water Feature Advisory Signs



11

All sites using recycled water must post clearly visible signs conforming to the requirements of
the City Recycled Water Program and be installed per the locations indicated on the approved
plans.

Irrigation Systems at Fenced Facilities
Advisory signs indicating the use of recycled water must be installed at all entrances to the User
facility. The City may require additional signage on a case-by-case basis.

Irrigation Systems at Facilities Not Surrounded by Fences
Advisory signs must be placed where they can be easily seen. To the extent necessary to
advise passersby, signs must be posted at the property line near crosswalks, driveway
entrances, outdoor eating areas, or as otherwise determined by the City. For streetscapes
(parkways, frontages or backup landscaping), place signs at street corners as appropriate to
notify passerby. Signs must be placed no further than 1,000 feet apart. For medians, a sign is
usually placed at the beginning and end of every median, and approximately equidistant from
the ends of the median for longer median areas.

The signs must include the words "IRRIGATED WITH RECYCLED WATER - DO NOT DRINK."
The City may also require the signs to include translations into other foreign languages if
appropriate. The lettering on the signs must be a minimum of 1/2-inch in height and must be
black or white on a purple colored background and “City of Turlock Recycled Water Program”
must be written on the sign. Example advisory signs are provided in Appendix C.

Required Temporary Connection to Potable Water Service
In order to prevent cross-connections, an irrigation system is not allowed to receive recycled
water until the site has passed a required cross-connection test. This means the irrigation
system must be supplied with water from a “jumper” (temporary connection) to an on-site
potable water system up to and during the cross-connection test. After passing this test, the
jumper must be removed and the system connected to the recycled water meter. Jumpers,
providing water from the public recycled water system into the on-site recycled water system,
are prohibited at all times. Irrigation systems not needing a temporary potable water source are
usually systems where there is no potable water at the site.

INSPECTION

Construction Inspection and Field Verification
The RWQCB requires the City conduct field verifications (on-site inspections) during the
construction phase to ensure materials, installation, and procedures are in accordance with the
approved plans, specifications, and all applicable regulations. The field verifications will ensure
that all requirements have been met and the proper tags, labels, and signs are in place.
Accordingly, the User must notify the City of the schedule for all phases of planning,
construction, and start up so that inspections can be scheduled.  The constant-pressure
mainline piping portion of all systems must conform to the requirements of the UPC Sections
103.5.1 through 103.5.4.2.

Cross-Connection Test
The User must conduct and pass a cross-connection test before connecting the Users recycled
water system to the City’s recycled water system at any site where both recycled and potable
water are present in separate piping systems. This test is to ensure the separation of the



12

recycled and potable water systems. The User must notify the City at least 48 hours prior to the
test so a City representative may be present. The cross-connection test must be done under
the supervision of a City representative and performed by an AWWA-certified cross-connection
control specialist approved by the City. The Site Supervisor must be present at the test. The test
must be done with potable water charging the irrigation system (see Required Temporary
Connection to Potable Water Service). A written report documenting the test results must be
submitted by the AWWA-certified cross-connection control specialist to the Site Supervisor and
the City following test completion. Cross-connection test procedures are contained in Appendix
B.

Approval to Receive Recycled Water
The City must grant final approval before recycled water can be supplied to the site. Final
approval will be granted when construction has been completed in accordance with approved
plans and specifications, all cross-connection tests have been performed, a final on-site
inspection has been conducted, and all requirements have been met satisfactorily. The DDW
will be forwarded a copy of all test and inspection reports as well as notification that recycled
water service has started. During the lifetime of the recycled water system, the City will
periodically inspect the recycled water system to ensure compliance with all applicable Rules
and Regulations.

Coverage Test for Landscape Irrigation Systems
The User is responsible for minimizing overspray, runoff, and ponding from their recycled water
irrigation systems – new or converted. To ensure any overspray, runoff, or ponding is in
accordance with the Rules and Regulations, the City will conduct an inspection of the on-site
system. After the on-site system begins receiving recycled water, the User or User
representative must contact the City to schedule a coverage test walk through of the system.
The User or User’s representative must attend and have persons in attendance capable of
making system adjustments. If modifications to the system (other than minor adjustments) are
required, the User will be notified in writing of the changes required. Any required modifications
to the system must be made in a timely manner. All modifications to the system are the
responsibility of the User and the User must pay all costs associated with such modifications.

Record Drawings
The User or User’s contractor must prepare record drawings to show the modifications to the
recycled water system as constructed. These drawings must include all changes in the work
constituting departures from the original contract drawings, including those involving both
constant-pressure and intermittent-pressure lines and appurtenances. All conceptual or major
design changes must be approved by the City before implementing the changes in the
construction contract. The recycled water system record drawings must be submitted to the
City within ninety (90) days of the site receiving recycled water.

OPERATION & MAINTENANCE OF RECYCLED WATER SYSTEMS FROM A FIXED
RECYCLED WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM FOR INDUSTRIAL PURPOSES,
LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION AND LANDSCAPE IMPOUNDMENTS

General requirements for the operation and maintenance of a recycled water systems using
recycled water in industrial purposes, landscape irrigation, landscape impoundments.

General User Responsibilities



13

By accepting recycled water service, the User agrees to comply with and enforce the City Rules
and Regulations for recycled water use.

Site Supervisor Designation
The User must designate a representative to be the Site Supervisor of the location(s) where
recycled water is used. The Site Supervisor represents the owner, tenant, or property manager
as a liaison to the City.  The Site Supervisor must have the authority to carry out any
requirements of the City. It is recommended that the Site Supervisor be an employee who is
permanently stationed at the use site. At a minimum, the Site Supervisor must make frequent
visits to the use site.

Site Supervisor Training
The designated Site Supervisor must attend a Site Supervisor Certification Workshop, provided
by the City. Failure to attend the Site Supervisor Certification Workshop may result in the denial
or termination of recycled water service.

Changing the Site Supervisor
The User must notify the City immediately of any change in personnel for the Site Supervisor
position. Upon a change in personnel, the new Site Supervisor must attend a Site Supervisor
Certification Workshop within 120 days of the position change. Failure to attend the Site
Supervisor Certification Workshop may result in the termination of recycled water service.

Site Supervisor Responsibilities
The Site Supervisor:

Shall be responsible for the recycled water system at the site.
Shall be responsible for the operation and maintenance of the recycled water system.
Shall be responsible for avoiding and preventing any potential violations associated with the
operation of the recycled water system and the use of recycled water.
Must ensure that there are no cross-connections made between the potable and recycled water
systems.
Must be present at all cross-connection tests.
Must inform the City of all failures, violations and emergencies that occur involving the recycled
or potable water systems.
Shall be expected to know the provisions contained in California Code of Regulations Title 17
and Title 22, relating to the safe use of recycled water and the maintenance of accurate records.
Shall be expected to know the basic concepts of backflow and cross-connection prevention,
system testing, and related emergency procedures.
Shall be responsible for training personnel at the use site on the proper uses of recycled water.
Shall conduct an annual self-inspection of the use site and provide a written report to the City.

Annual Self-Monitoring Report
The RWQCB requires the recycled water User conduct an inspection at least once per year
while the recycled water system is in use. The results of this inspection must be documented
and submitted in a written report. The City will deliver the report form to the Site Supervisor
once a year. The Site Supervisor must submit the results of the observations, along with a
description of any corrective actions taken (see Appendix D - Sample Forms). Upon
completion, the Site Supervisor must keep a copy of the report for their records and must return
the original. The questions on the annual inspection report are as follows:



14

Is recycled water escaping the use area through surface runoff or airborne spray?
Are any odors associated with use of the recycled water?
Is there prolonged ponding of recycled water due to over-irrigation or evidence of mosquito
breeding as a result of ponding?
Are all warning signs, labels, and markings identifying recycled water in place, legible, and
visible?
Are there leaks or breaks in the irrigation system piping or evidence of plugged, broken, or
otherwise faulty irrigation system components?
Is recycled water being sprayed directly on people, dwellings, food-handling facilities, eating
areas or drinking fountains?

Unauthorized Discharge
An unauthorized discharge is any incidental amount of recycled water that leaves the
designated use site. The Site Supervisor must report to the City any unauthorized discharge of
recycled water, at which time the City will specify if a written report is required. In the event of
an unauthorized discharge, the Site Supervisor should make every effort to contain the recycled
water and prevent it from entering the storm drain. Contact the City for further directions and
disposal instructions.

Maintenance
The Site Supervisor is required to perform preventive maintenance to ensure the recycled water
system always remains in compliance with the Rules and Regulations. As part of a preventive
maintenance program, the Site Supervisor shall:

Perform regular inspections of the entire recycled water system including sprinkler heads, drip
irrigation system emitters, spray patterns, piping and valves, pumps, storage facilities,
controllers, etc. Immediately repair all broken sprinkler heads, faulty spray patterns, leaking
pipes or valves, or any other noted condition that violates the recycled water use requirements.
Check all recycled water identification signs, tags, stickers, and above grade pipe markings for
their proper placement and legibility. Replace damaged, unreadable, or missing signs, tags,
stickers, and pipe markings.
Check spray patterns to eliminate ponding, runoff, and wind-blown spray conditions. If evidence
of ponding or runoff is noted, affected areas should be indicated on a sketch and sprinkler
heads should be adjusted to prevent further ponding or runoff.
Establish and maintain an accurate record keeping system of all inspections, modifications, and
repair work.

Personnel Training
The Site Supervisor is responsible for training all personnel involved with recycled water so they
are familiar with the Rules and Regulations. At a minimum, the training program should convey
the following information:

The City’s recycled water, although highly treated, is non-potable and must never be used for
human consumption.
Regulations prohibit ponding, windblown spray, and runoff of recycled water.
Working with non-potable recycled water is safe if sound judgment is used and appropriate
regulations are followed.
State law prohibits a connection between the recycled water and the potable water systems.



15

Training programs should also instruct personnel in proper procedures for reporting
unauthorized discharges, identifying and correcting cross-connections, and modifying the
system in the event of an earthquake or other disaster.

Transfer of Property/Ownership
If the property is transferred to a new owner or tenant, or a new Site Supervisor or landscape
company becomes responsible for system maintenance, the User must notify the City within 30
days.

System Operations and Responsibilities

The City
The City provides high quality recycled water at the appropriate pressure and quantity to City
User and is responsible for the operation and maintenance of the entire recycled water
distribution system up to the User storage facility, if any, and including the recycled water meter.

The User
The User is responsible for maintaining and operating the on-site recycled water system
downstream of the recycled water meter. This includes the following:

Apply recycled water in accordance with the Rules and Regulations.
Maintain the on-site recycled water system, including signs, markings, and tags in accordance
with all Rules and Regulations.
Ensure all materials used during the repair and maintenance of the system are approved or
recommended for recycled water use.
Obtain prior authorization from the City before making any modifications to the approved
recycled water system.
Report all violations and emergencies to the appropriate local authority.
Submit Annual Self-Monitoring Report to the City.

Recycled Water System Modifications and/or Expansions
The User must receive authorization from the City before making any modifications to the
approved recycled water system. This includes converting any piping used for recycled water
back to potable water, such as switching from a recycled water system to a back-up potable
water system. The City will notify the User if any additional approval is required from other
regulatory agencies and if disinfecting procedures are required.

Emergency Procedures
In the event of an earthquake, flood, fire, major freeze, nearby construction, or other incident,
which could cause damage to the recycled or potable water systems, the Site Supervisor must
inspect the potable and recycled water systems for damage as soon as it is safe to do so. If
either system appears damaged, both the potable and recycled water systems should be shut
off at their points of connection. The Site Supervisor must immediately contact the City for
further instruction.

To prevent contamination, damage, or a public health hazard, the User may make emergency
modifications or repairs without the prior approval of the City. As soon as possible, after the
modification (but within three days), the User must notify the City of the emergency
modifications and file a written report.



16

OPERATING PROBLEMS

Notification
In the event of a break in the system, low pressure, low flow or poor water quality, during normal
business hours the User should notify Wayne Clay, Water Quality Control Division Manager, at
phone number 209-668-5590. After hours Mr. Clay can be reached at (209) 535-0287.

DUAL PLUMBED SITES

Dual plumbed sites are sites where the recycled water is used within a building in conjunction
with a potable water system. According to DDW regulations, at dual-plumbed use sites the User
is responsible for conducting a periodic cross-connection test every four years, unless visual
inspections reveal a requirement for more frequent testing. This test must be done by an
AWWA-certified cross-connection specialist. The User must notify the City at least 48 hours in
advance of the test in order for their representative to be present, if appropriate. The Site
Supervisor must be present at the test.

Dual Plumbed Regulations
If recycled water is used inside a building, all dual plumbed regulations apply pursuant to Title
22 section 60313.

Visual Inspection and Cross-Connection Review
A visual inspection and thorough cross-connection review of the recycled water system shall be
conducted annually by the Site Supervisor.

Cross-Connection Tests
Once every four years, the User must have a cross-connection test performed by an AWWA
certified cross-connection control specialist recognized by the City to verify there is not a cross-
connection between the recycled water and potable water systems. The certified cross-
connection control specialist must submit a written report documenting the test results to the
Site Supervisor and the City.

For specific individual uses, other regulations may apply (Food & Drug Administration, OSHA).
Contact the City for further information regarding industrial uses.

Cross-Connections

A cross-connection is any physical connection between any part of a water system used or
intended to supply water for drinking purposes and any source or system containing water or
substance that is not or cannot be approved for human consumption. This includes direct piping
between the two systems, regardless of the presence of valves, backflow prevention devices, or
other appurtenances. Cross-connection test procedures and certification are contained in
Appendices B and D.

Notification of a Cross Connection

The Site Supervisor must immediately notify the City of any failure or cross-connections
between the recycled water and potable water system, whether or not he/she believes a
violation has occurred. The Site Supervisor must also notify the City of any violation that might



17

occur because of any action User personnel might take during the operation of the recycled
water or potable water systems. If there are any doubts whether a violation has occurred, the
Site Supervisor must report each occurrence to the City so a decision can be made as to the
need for further action.

Scheduling Future Cross-Connection Tests

Periodic cross-connection tests of dual plumbed systems must be performed by an AWWA
certified cross-connection specialist recognized by the City, a representative from the City and
the Site Supervisor must be in attendance during the test. These tests must be performed
according to the procedure listed in Appendix B – Cross-Connection Control Test Procedure for
On-site Recycled Water Systems.

Emergency Cross-Connection Procedures

In the event that a cross-connection is suspected or occurs, the following emergency cross-
connection response plan must be implemented immediately.

Emergency Cross-Connection Response Plan:

User must immediately shut down the recycled water supply to the facility.
User must notify the City by telephone immediately at (209) 668-5590. This notification must be
followed by a written notice within 24 hours that includes an explanation of the nature of the
cross-connection, date and time discovered, and the contact information of the person reporting
the cross-connection.
City will notify the DDW of the reported cross connection.
User must keep the potable system pressurized and post "Do Not Drink" signs at all potable
water fixtures and outlets.
User must provide bottled water for employees until the potable water system is deemed safe to
drink.
User must follow the procedures outlined by the DDW and the City to correct the cross-
connection.

After final approval has been obtained from the DDW, the City will bring the recycled water
system back into service and inform the User to remove the "Do Not Drink" signs from all
potable water fixtures and outlets.

Contamination of Potable Water
If contamination of the potable water system is suspected or known, due to a cross-connection
on the User premises, the User must immediately notify the City. The User is to invoke
immediately the Emergency Cross-Connection Response Plan described above.

SECTION III – MOBILE COMMERCIAL USE OF RECYCLED WATER
FOR CONSTRUCTION RELATED OR LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION
ACTIVITIES

Introduction

This section applies to the use of tertiary disinfected recycled water for the commercial activity
related to construction and landscape irrigation activities as regulated by the DDW, RWQCB



18

and the City of Turlock recycled water program. Only approved uses noted below are approved
by this program.

General User Responsibilities

By accepting recycled water service, the User (Hauler) agrees to comply with and enforce the
City Rules and Regulations for recycled water use.

Training

Site Supervisor Designation
The User (hauler) must designate a representative to be the Site Supervisor for all the
location(s) where recycled water is used. In the case of Commercial Haulers the Site
Supervisor can be the Hauler/Driver. The Site Supervisor represents the owner, tenant, or
property manager as a liaison to the City.  The Site Supervisor must have the authority to carry
out any requirements of the City. The Site Supervisor can be an employee who is at the use
site during time of recycled water use/application.

Site Supervisor Training
Prior to authorization to use recycled water the designated Site Supervisor must attend a Site
Supervisor Certification Workshop, provided by the City.

First Time User Training
Prior to utilization of recycled water, commercial users must also first attend a mandatory
training class on safe use of recycled water.

All Commercial Haulers will be required to attend an onsite first time user training session in
order to learn the proper procedures for filling station use.

Continuing Training
Annual refresher training on program rules, regulations and procedures will be required.

Approved uses

Backfill consolidation around non-potable piping
Soil compaction
Mixing concrete
Dust control on roads and streets
Cleaning roads, sidewalks and outdoor work areas

Recycled Water Use Restrictions

A. Workers should be informed that although reclaimed water has been treated to lower health
risks, bacterial and viral contamination is still present and may potentially cause illness or
infection. Contact with reclaimed water by ingestion, inhalation of mist, or on cuts or abrasions
should be avoided, and the precautionary measures listed below should be carefully reviewed
and followed.

B. Precautionary measures should be taken to minimize worker contact with constituents of
reclaimed water.

1. Workers should not be subjected to reclaimed water sprays, mists, or aerosols.



19

2. Workers should wear protective clothing when there will be more than casual contact with
the reclaimed water.

C. Safe drinking water should be supplied for workers. Where bottled water is provided, the
water should be in contamination-proof containers and protected from reclaimed water and dust.

D. Hand washing facilities should be provided consisting of potable water supply, hand washing
soap, and single use sanitary paper towels. The importance of hand washing should be
stressed when working with reclaimed water, especially before eating or smoking.

E. Workers should not apply reclaimed water by hand held nozzles or other hand held devices
that can produce sprays, mists, or aerosols.

F. Precautions should be taken to avoid contamination of food taken into reclaimed water use
areas. Food should not be taken into areas still wet with reclaimed water.

G. Workers should be notified that reclaimed water is in use. Notification should include the
posting of conspicuous warning signs with proper wording of sufficient size to be clearly read. In
those locations where English is not the primary language of the workers, the signs should be in
the appropriate language as well as in English.

H. An adequate first aid kit should be available on location. Cuts or abrasions should be
promptly washed, disinfected, and bandaged.

I. Public contact with reclaimed water shall be avoided, to the extent practical, under the normal
use at the reclaimed water site.

J. In all areas where recycled water is used that are accessible to the public, warning signs shall
be installed at adequate intervals around the use area as required by the District.

K. Recycled water shall not be applied where it could contact walkways, passing vehicles,
buildings, drinking water facilities, storm drains, or enter areas where food is handled or
consumed.

L. Adequate measures shall be taken to prevent ponding, and to prevent run off of recycled
water from the authorized recycled water use area unless it is specifically allowed by the
RWQCB or an attachment to this Permit.

M. Spray of recycled water shall not be allowed to contact an external drinking water fountain.

N. There shall be no irrigation or impoundment of recycled water within a minimum of 50 feet of
any water well.

O. Distributor’s vehicles used for transportation and distribution of recycled water must have
water tight valves and fittings, and must not leak, and tanks must be cleaned of contaminants
prior to use. A truck or tank that has contained material from a septic tank or cesspool shall not
be used to convey recycled water.

P. Distributor’s vehicles that convey recycled water shall be clearly labeled in a prominent
location with language stating in English “RECYCLED WATER - DO NOT DRINK”.



20

Q. Recycled water shall not be put into piping or a storage facility without specific written
authorization from the City of Turlock.

R. Connection of recycled water to a potable water system is strictly prohibited.

Cross-Connection Control

Mobile Commercial recycled water users must have an approved air gap back-flow device
attached to the vehicle being filled.

Commercial recycled water vehicles may not carry potable water or have previously been used
to carry septage or similar materials.

Commercial tank trucks carrying potable, non-potable and or recycled water may only obtain
potable water from a City hydrant having a City owned and maintained meter/back flow device
assembly.

Tank truck or trailers that are delivering recycled water may not be open to the atmosphere
during transport.

When not in use hoses used for the application of recycled water shall be stored disconnected
from the supply tank and inspected for condition and leaks prior to use.

Signage

All commercial vehicles carrying recycled water must have a City of Turlock approved
“RECYCLED WATER - DO NOT DRINK” sign prominently displayed on the vehicle.  See
Appendix C

SECTION IV - MOBILE RESIDENTIAL USE OF RECYCLED WATER
FOR LANDSCAPE RELATED IRRIGATION ACTIVITIES

Introduction

This section applies to the use of tertiary disinfected recycled water for residential and
commercial activity related to landscape and garden related irrigation activities as regulated by
the DDW, RWQCB and the City of Turlock recycled water program.

Approved Uses

Residential irrigation
Food crops where recycled water contacts the edible portion of the crop, including all root crops
Decorative fountains

Recycled Water Use Restrictions

Prior to utilization of recycled water, residential users must first attend a mandatory training
class on safe use of recycled water.

Cross-Connection Control



21

Recycled water shall not be placed in a storage container that is connected to the landscape
irrigation system or the on-site drinking water supply. Connection to any potable water supply is
strictly prohibited.

Collection and storage containers shall have City of Turlock’s Recycled Water Notice stickers
placed on them to ensure everyone is aware recycled water is stored in the container and the
water is not suitable for human consumption.

Signage

All containers carrying recycled water must have a City of Turlock approved “RECYCLED
WATER - DO NOT DRINK” sign prominently displayed on the container.  See Appendix C



22

Appendix A - Definitions

Whenever the following terms (or pronouns used in their place) occur in this manual, the intent
and meaning shall be interpreted as follows:

AIR GAP A physical separation between the free flowing discharge end
of a water supply pipeline and an open or non-pressure
receiving vessel. An approved air gap must be at least twice
the diameter of the water supply pipe measured vertically
above the overflow rim of the vessel, and in no case less than
one inch.

APPROVED USE An application of recycled water in a manner, and for a
purpose, designated in a Recycled Water Use Permit issued by
the City and in compliance with all applicable Regulatory
Agency requirements.

APPROVED USE AREA A site with well-defined boundaries designated on the
approved Site Drawings, to receive recycled water for an
approved use and acknowledged by all applicable Regulatory
Agencies.

CROSS-CONNECTION Any physical connection between any part of a water system
used or intended to supply water for drinking purposes and any
source or system containing water or substance that is not or
cannot be approved for human consumption.  This includes
direct piping between the two systems, regardless of the
presence of valves, backflow prevention devices, or other
appurtenances.

USER Any person, persons or firm including any public utility,
municipality or other public body or institution issued a
Recycled Water Use Permit by the City.  They may be the
owner, tenant, or property manager as appropriate.

INSPECTOR Any person authorized by the City or the local health agencies
to perform inspections on or off the User site before
construction, during construction, after construction and during
operation.

INTERMITTENTLY
PRESSURIZED LINE

Also known as a “lateral,” it is the pipe section(s) between the
control valve and the sprinkler head or drip emitters.

LATERAL See “INTERMITTENTLY PRESSURIZED LINE”

NON-POTABLE RECYCLED
WATER OR RECYCLED
WATER

Water that meets California Administration Code Title 22,
Division 4 of the Environmental Health Water Reclamation
Criteria and is approved for purposes other than human
consumption. For the purpose of these Rules and Regulations,
“recycled water” refers to “Non-potable recycled water.”



23

NON-POTABLE WATER Water that has not been treated for human consumption in
conformance with the latest edition of the United States Public
Health Service Drinking Water Standards, the California Safe
Drinking Water Act, or any other applicable standards.

OFF-SITE Designates or relates to facilities upstream of the recycled
water meter.

ON-SITE Designates or relates to all facilities downstream of the
recycled water meter.

OVERSPRAY The spray of recycled water outside of the approved
irrigation/application area.

OWNER Any holder of legal title, contract purchaser, or lessee under a
lease with an unexpired term of more than one (1) year, for
property for which recycled water service has been requested
or established.

POINT OF CONNECTION This is the point where the User system ties to the City’s
system. This is usually at the water meter.

PONDING Unauthorized retention of recycled water on the surface of the
ground or other natural or manmade surface for a period
following the cessation of an approved recycled water use
activity.

POTABLE WATER Water that is authorized for human consumption according to
the latest edition of the California Safe-Drinking Water Act,
United States Public Health Service Drinking Water Standards
or other applicable standards.

POTABLE WATER FACILITY Any facility, including fire service, used to convey potable
water.

PUBLIC Any person or persons other than the site owner or employees
who may come in contact with facilities and/or areas where
recycled water is approved for use.

REDUCED PRESSURE
PRINCIPAL BACKFLOW
PREVENTION DEVICE

A type of backflow prevention device, usually installed near a
water meter, which prevents backflow by a combination of
double check valves and a pressure differential relief valve,
with a resilient seated shutoff valve on each end of the device.

REGULATORY AGENCIES Those public agencies legally constituted to protect the public
health and water quality, and whose rules govern the use of
recycled water, such as the DDW, the RWQCB, the City and
the County DER.

RESTRAINED JOINT Mechanically restrained.  Solvent welded for PVC joints 4-inch
diameter and smaller.



24

RUNOFF Recycled water that is allowed to drain outside the approved
use area.

SERVICE The furnishing of recycled water to a User through a metered
connection to the onsite facilities.

SITE SUPERVISOR The responsible person designated by the User to provide
liaison with the City.  This person must have the authority to
carry out any requirements of the City and must be responsible
for the operation and maintenance of the recycled water
system, and must prevent potential violations.

STANDARD PIPE LENGTH A section of pipe 18 to 20 feet in length that has no joints.

UNAUTHORIZED DISCHARGE Any release of recycled water that violates the rules and
regulations of the City or all applicable Federal, State or local
statutes, regulations, ordinances, contracts or other
requirements.

VIOLATION Noncompliance with any condition of the Recycled Water Use
Permit by any person, action or occurrence, intentional or
unintentional.



25

Appendix B - Cross-Connection Control Test Procedure for On-Site Recycled Water
Systems

Introduction
The following procedures have been established to verify the absence of cross-connections
between potable water and recycled water supplies at sites which are served by both types of
water.  These procedures also describe what to do in the event a cross-connection is
discovered. The procedures cover cross-connection testing only and do not incorporate other
requirements related to the use of recycled water, which are described elsewhere.

Testing Frequency
The initial cross-connection test shall consist of the Pre-Test Requirements and Visual
Inspection and the Cross-Connection Control Test, as described in the Cross-Connection Test
and Report Form (Appendix D).  This initial test shall be performed and passed at all sites
converting to recycled water use prior to the site receiving approval to use recycled water.
Thereafter, the procedures listed under Pre-Test Requirements and Visual Inspection (Part I)
shall be performed annually, and the Cross-Connection Control Testing (Part II) shall be
successfully performed a minimum of once every four years. The City may require more
frequent testing if conditions dictate.

Inspection Team
All inspections and testing will be conducted by an Inspection Team consisting of a certified
AWWA Cross-Connection Specialist, a representative from the City’s Recycled Water Program,
the User designated Site Supervisor, and other personnel as required.

PART I - Pre-Test Requirements and Visual Inspection

Prior to the cross-connection testing, a visual inspection of the recycled water system shall be
conducted by the Inspection Team.  If possible, the visual inspection should be conducted prior
to the date scheduled for cross-connection testing.  The visual inspection should include the
following elements:

The User shall provide the Inspection Team with drawings of the recycled and potable water
systems.  Team members shall review the drawings.

Discuss any changes to recycled and potable water systems since the last cross-connection
test, and verify that all changes have been recorded on the appropriate recorded drawing(s).  If
possible, visually inspect changes to verify that no cross-connection has been created.

Verify appropriate backflow prevention devices are installed and have been tested annually in
accordance with California Title 17 Regulations.  Devices are typically located on the potable
water line, downstream of the meter.

Check meter locations on the recycled water and potable water lines to verify that no
modifications have been made and no cross connections are visible.

Discuss who has access to the recycled water system (e.g., gardeners, maintenance, and
facilities workers).  Establish if they are employed by the User or a contractor, if they read and
speak English and what type of training they have had this past year on the use of recycled
water.



26

Verify required signs are in place and in good condition.

Verify all recycled water fixtures (e.g., hose, quick connect valves) are permanently marked to
indicate they are only to be used on the recycled water system.

PART II - Cross-Connection Control Testing

The Cross-Connection Test and Report Form should be completed in conjunction with the
testing.

The basic concept employed in checking for cross-connections between the potable and
recycled water systems is to pressurize one system at a time, and then check the other system
for flow, which would indicate a cross-connection exists.

The following procedure shall be used to determine if a cross-connection exists:

The potable water system shall be activated and pressured.  The recycled water system shall
be shut down at the service connection only, depressurized, and where feasible, drained. Verify
all other valves on the recycled system, downstream of service connection, are open.

The potable water system shall remain pressurized for a minimum of one hour.

All outdoor potable water fixtures and all indoor drinking fountains shall be tested for flow.  No
flow from a potable water outlet would indicate it could be connected to the recycled water
system.

The recycled water system shall be tested for flow. This shall be done by opening all quick
connect bibs, sprinkler heads, and any other outlets on the irrigation system. Flow from any
recycled water outlet shall be an indication that a cross-connection exists.

Any drain points or outlets on the recycled water system shall be checked for flow during and at
the end of the test period.

The potable water system shall then be shut down, and where feasible, drained. The recycled
water system shall then be re-activated and pressurized.

The recycled water system shall remain pressurized for a minimum of one hour. Recycled water
fixtures shall be tested for flow to verify the recycled water system is fully pressurized.

All outdoor potable water fixtures and all indoor drinking fountains shall be tested and inspected
for flow. A representative number of other indoor potable water fixtures shall be tested. This
should include one fixture in each rest room and at least 10 percent of the fixtures on each floor.
The specific number will be determined by the Inspection Team based on the site’s recycled
and potable water systems drawings. Flow from any potable water outlet shall be an indication
that a cross-connection exists.

If no flow is detected in any fixture which would have indicated a cross-connection, the test is
complete and the system may be re-pressurized.

PART III - Procedure if Cross-Connection is Discovered



27

The Procedure if Cross-Connection is Discovered Form should be used to document the
procedure if a cross-connection is discovered. The following procedure shall be activated
immediately, in the presence of the AWWA Cross-Connection Control Specialist.

Recycled water piping to the facility shall be shut down at the meter, and the recycled water
system shall be depressurized and drained where feasible.

Potable water service shall be shut down at the meter.

The cross-connection shall be determined and disconnected.

The systems shall be tested again as described under Cross-Connection Control Testing and
Cross-Connection Test and Report completed.

The potable water system shall be chlorinated with 50 ppm chlorine for 24 hours, per methods
described in AWWA Standard for Disinfecting Water Mains (ANSI/AWWA 065 1-92). A
bacteriological test shall be performed.  If test results are acceptable, the potable water system
may be recharged. If not, repeat this step.

The retrofit plans must be revised to reflect any changes required to eliminate the cross-
connection and revised plans must be submitted to the City for review.



28

Appendix C - Sample Advisory Sign



29

Appendix D - Sample Forms

Cross-Connection Test and Report Form

Procedure Check List if Cross-Connection is Discovered

User Self-Monitoring Report



CITY OF TURLOCK RECYCLED WATER PROGRAM FOR FIXED RECYCLED WATER SYSTEMS
CROSS-CONNECTION TEST AND REPORT

This test and report is for disinfected tertiary recycled water.

Site Name:
Address:
Form Completed By: Test Date:

Site Cross-Connection Testing History
(To be completed by Water Reuse Program Coordinator prior to test)

Is this site’s first cross-connection test? Yes. Skip to Today’s Scheduled Testing No. Continue

Date of last Pre-Test and Visual Inspection /    / passed failed

Date of last complete testing (Parts I & II) /    / passed failed
If failed, attach a copy of the failed “Testing Report” form

Today’s Scheduled Testing
Part I, Pre-Test and Visual Inspection, only
Parts I & II

Note: Initial test shall consist of Parts I and II. Thereafter, Part I is required annually, Part II is required at least once
every 4 years.

Names of Inspection Team
Recycled Water Program Inspector:
City Cross-Connection Control Specialist:
User Supervisor:

Others Present Affiliation/Title
Name:
Name:

PART I: PRE-TEST AND VISUAL INSPECTION
Note: Cross-connection testing shall be performed as described in the applicable “Cross-Connection Test and
Discovery Procedures”,
YES NO For any “no” response, an explanation must be given below under No. 8

1a. User provided record drawings of recycled and potable water systems?
1b. Inspection team reviewed drawings?
2a. Discuss any changes made to recycled and potable systems since last test.
2b. Have changes (from 2a) been recorded on record drawings?
2c. Team visually inspected changes to verify absences of cross-connections?
3a. Team accounted for all backflow prevention devices on site?
3b. Have all backflow preventers been tested annually in accordance with California Title 17
regulations?
4a. Team field checked location of recycled water meter and potable water meter?
4b. Do all meters appear to be correctly installed?
4c. Are water meters free of visible cross-connections?
5a. User has provided a list of the individuals with access to use recycled water system?
5b. Discussed training of recycled water supervisor and workers?
6a. Are RW quick couplers and other recycled water access points easily identified as RW fixtures
by signs or color coding?



PART I: PRE-TEST AND VISUAL INSPECTION (Continued)
Yes No For any “no” response, an explanation must be given below under No. 8

6b. Is a “Recycled Water - Do Not Drink” sign posted where the public enters a recycled water use
area?
6c. Are appropriate signs or other markers in place at recycled water meters, valve boxes,
controllers?
6d. Are all the signs in good condition, legible and visible?
7. Are all portable fixtures and hoses used on the RW system (quick connect valves, hoses, etc.)
permanently labeled to indicate they are for use only on the RW system?

8. An explanation must be given for any “NO” response above.

RESULTS OF PRE-TEST AND VISUAL INSPECTION TEST
PASSED. If scheduled, proceed with the Cross-Connection Control Testing

FAILED. The following action must be completed by the User prior to re-testing and must be done by
(date) __________.

By:
City Cross-Connection Control Specialist

Date:

Received by:
User Representative

Date:

Filing instructions: Retain original in City files, send copy to User

PART II: CROSS-CONNECTION CONTROL TESTING
A. TEST OF POTABLE WATER SYSTEM Check When Complete
Step 1. Turn off recycled water system at meter.
Step 2. Open all valves on the recycled water supply, downstream of the meter.
Step 3. Depressurize and drain (if possible) recycled water system. Record pressure in recycled water

system _________ psi.
Step 4. Confirm potable system is activated and pressurize by operating a few potable fixtures. Record

pressure in potable water system _________ psi.
Step 5. Potable water system must remain pressurized after recycled water system has been

depressurized, while Steps 6 through 10 are performed.
Step 6. Identify the location, and obtain access, to all the potable water fixtures to be tested in Steps 7

and 8.
Step 7. Open all (one at a time) outdoor potable water fixtures and note any fixtures that have no flow.



PART II: CROSS-CONNECTION CONTROL TESTING (Continued)
Step 8. Try all indoor drinking fountains, and note any that have no flow. List potable fixtures with no flow

in Steps 7 and 8:_______________________________________________________________
Step 9. Open (one at a time) all fixtures on the recycled water system. Note if water flows through any:

Quick connects______________ Sprinkler heads ______________ Other______________
Step 10. Check to see if there is any flow from any fixture or drain point. Note location of flow.
Step 11. If no flow was found in Steps 9 and 10, proceed to Step 13. Otherwise a cross-connection has

been indicated. Flow discovered in Steps 9 and 10 may be caused by an incomplete drainage of
the recycled system. If inspection team suspects this is the case, the duration of the test shall be
extended.

Step 12. If a valid cross-connection is discovered, continue with testing of recycled water system, then
proceed with “Procedures if Cross- Connection is Discovered.” Note locations of Cross-
Connections:

A. TEST OF RECYCLED WATER SYSTEM Check When Complete
Step 13 Turn off potable water supply at meter.
Step 14. Drain and depressurize potable water supply by opening fixtures downstream of meter. Record

pressure in potable water system: _______psi.
Step 15. Turn on recycled water system and pressurize. Confirm recycled water system is pressurized by

operating a few sprinklers. Record pressure in recycled water system (if available): _______psi.
Step 16. Recycled water system must be pressurized while Steps 17-20 are performed.
Step 17. Select the indoor potable water fixtures which will be tested in Steps 18 and 19. This should

include all drinking fountains, one fixture in each restroom and at least 10 percent of the fixtures
on each floor. (Note: In buildings with dual plumbing, all potable fixtures must be tested).

Step 18. Check to see if any flow comes out of any of the indoor fixtures identified in Step 16. Flow from
any fixture indicates a cross-connections:

Step 19. Turn on, one at a time, all outdoor potable water fixtures. Flow from any fixture indicates a cross-
connection exists. Special attention shall be given to those fixtures listed in Steps 6 and 7. Note
location of cross-connections.

Step 20. Record pressure in recycled water system (if available): psi
RESULTS OF CROSS-CONNECTION CONTROL TESTING

PASSED, turn on the potable water supply

FAILED, immediately follow “Procedures if Cross-Connection is Discovered”

By _________________________________________ Received by:_________________________
Cross-Connection Control Specialist User Representative

Date Date:

__________________ File (Original) __________________ User



CITY OF TURLOCK RECYCLED WATER PROGRAM
PROCEDURE FOR FIXED RECYCLED WATER SYSTEMS IF CROSS CONNECTION IS

DISCOVERED
In the event that a cross-connection is discovered, the following procedure shall be activated immediately in the
presence of the City’s Cross-Connection Specialist.
Site Name:
Site Address: Date of Procedure:

NAMES OF PEOPLE PRESENT DURING PROCEDURE
City Cross Control Specialist:
Recycled Water Program Coordinator:
User Representative:
Others:
Name:
Name:
Name:

Affiliation/Title:

PROCEDURE Check When Complete 
Step 1. Turn off recycled water system at meter.
Step 2. Depressurize the system by turning on a few sprinklers and drain the recycled water system, where

feasible.
Step 3. Find the cross-connection and disconnect.
Step 4. Complete the 19 steps in Part II of the “Cross-Connection Test and Report.”
Step 5. Disinfect the potable water system with 50 ppm chlorine for 24 hours per ANSI/AWWA C651-92.
Step 6. Flush the potable water system.
Step 7. Coordinate with the City laboratory to arrange for sampling.
Step 8. Analyze the sample for coliform bacteria.
Step 9. Review the lab results. If the results are negative in the confirmed coliform tests, the potable water

system may be recharged and put back into service. If the results are positive in a confirmed
coliform test, repeat Steps 6 - 9.

Step 10. User to revise drawings of the recycled and potable water systems to reflect changes made in
eliminating the cross-connection.

Step 11. User to submit revisions to City for review within two weeks of correction by _________ (date).
Describe nature and location of cross-connection and means of correction



CITY OF TURLOCK RECYCLED WATER PROGRAM
USER SELF-MONITORING REPORT FOR FIXED RECYCLED WATER SYSTEMS

(To Be Completed By User)
This monitoring report is for the use of disinfected tertiary recycled water.

Name/Location of Site: Monitoring frequency
specified in permit:

User Designated Recycled Water
Supervisor:

MONITORING DATA

Observer’s initials and date monitored 
Is recycled water escaping the use area through surface
runoff or airborne spray? (If yes, note affected area and
estimate volume)

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Are any odors associate with use of the recycled water?
(Note source, characterization and travel distance
below.)

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Is there prolonged ponding of recycled water due to over-
irrigation or evidence of mosquito breeding as a result of
ponding?

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Are all warning signs labels and markings identifying
recycled water in place, legible and visible?

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Are there leaks or breaks in the irrigation system piping
or evidence of plugged, broken, or otherwise faulty
irrigation system components?

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Is recycled water being sprayed directly on people,
dwellings, food-handling facilities, or drinking fountains?

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Yes
No

Explain any “yes” answers. Note date of comment and specific locations within site. Attach additional sheets if
necessary.

NOTES

Note any recommended improvements or changes:

List any changes in recycled water piping system from previous monitoring report. Explain.

User Recycled Water Supervisor (date)

This report shall be submitted to the
Recycled Water Program
Coordinator or maintained on-site as
specified in the User permit.



Appendix E - References

1. California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 22, Division 4, Chapter 3, "Water Recycling
Criteria" - These regulations are written by the State DHS and specify the approved uses and
use area requirements, such as hose bib restrictions, prohibition of irrigation near wells, etc.
The regulations govern both the Water Retailer’s distribution system as well as the User on-site
system.

2. California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 17, "Drinking Water Supply - Backflow
Prevention" - Title 17 specifies requirements intended to protect the public drinking water
supply from contamination.  Some requirements specified in Title 17 include backflow
prevention devices, designation of a User Site Supervisor, and cross-connection testing
requirements.

3. State Water Resources Control Board Order WQ 2014-0090_DWQ, General Waste
Discharge Requirements for Recycled Water Use adopted June 3, 2014 and related
appendices – This Order provides direction and requirements for obtaining the necessary
permit for the use of recycled  water.

4. American Water Works Association (AWWA), California-Nevada Section, Guidelines
For Distribution of Nonpotable Water - This document provides recommended guidelines for
planning, designing, constructing, and operating nonpotable water systems, including recycled
water systems. The guidelines themselves are not regulations but many agencies have
adopted them as general requirements.  The document covers both installations of the Water
Retailer distribution systems and on-site use systems.

5.  International Association of Plumbing & Mechanical Officials (IAPMO) Uniform
Plumbing Code, Appendix J - Appendix J of the Uniform Plumbing Code sets forth
requirements when recycled water is used within buildings in a dual-plumbed system for
nonpotable domestic uses, such as toilet and urinal flushing.  This section of the Uniform
Plumbing Code does not apply to irrigation sites, where the recycled water system is located
outside buildings, or industrial sites, where the recycled water is used for non-domestic
industrial purposes.  In addition, the pipe separation regulations indicated in this document are
different than and take precedence over the Appendix J requirements.  Appendix J has not been
adopted by Milpitas, Santa Clara, or San Jose, and serves only as a reference.

6. Regional Water Quality Control Board – The Central Valley Regional Water
Quality Control Board (RWQCB) is the agency responsible for preserving the quality of
California's water resources within their respective boundary.  The RWQCB is responsible for
issuing National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permits, which contains
regulations concerning discharge of water into surface waters of the State.

7. State Water Resources Control Board, Division of Drinking Water formerly California
Department of Public Health, Drinking Water Field Operations Branch – The State Water
Resources Control Board, Division of Drinking Water (DDW) is the agency responsible for
protecting and promoting the safety of California’s drinking water. They are responsible for
developing the criteria and regulations for recycled water use, evaluating, and approving
recycled water systems, and for making recommendations to the RWQCB regarding the public
health implications of recycled water use.



City of Turlock Commercial and Residential Recycled Water Distribution Program
RECYCLED WATER REUSE CHECKLIST FORM

DATE VOLUME (GAL) SITE USE ADDRESS VEHICLE LIC. # & USER # USER SIGNATURE



CITY OF TURLOCK-MUNICIPAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT

TITLE 22 ENGINEERING REPORT
FOR PROVISION OF RECYCLED WATER TO COMMERCIAL,

INDUSTRIAL AND RESIDENTIAL USERS



TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION.........................................................................................................................5

1.1. Purpose of this Title 22 Engineering Report .................................................................................5

1.2. Background ................................................................................................................................... 5

SECTION 2 - Recycled Water Project.............................................................................................................7

2.1. Project Overview...........................................................................................................................7

2.2. Rules and Regulations...................................................................................................................7

2.3. Responsibility of the Producer, Distributer, & User of Recycled Water ....................................... 7

2.4. Raw Wastewater Quality ..............................................................................................................7

2.5. Existing Treatment Processes ....................................................................................................... 8

2.6. Plant Reliability Features ............................................................................................................15

2.7. Supplemental Water Supply .......................................................................................................20

2.8. Monitoring and Reporting ..........................................................................................................20

2.9. Contingency Plan ........................................................................................................................21

Section 3 - Recycled Water Transmission and Distribution Facilities………………………………………………………23

3.1       Introduction.....................................................................................................................................22

3.2 Recycled Water Delivery .............................................................................................................22

Section 4 - Recycled Water Use Areas ........................................................................................................23

4.1 Use Area Description ..................................................................................................................23

4.2 Training .......................................................................................................................................23



List of Tables
Table 1-1 Effluent Quality Requirements for Discharge to San Joaquin River..............................................6

Table 2-1 Wastewater Flows and Characteristics .........................................................................................7

Table 2-2 New Screening Design Parameters ...............................................................................................8

Table 2-3 Primary Treatment Design Parameters ........................................................................................8

Table 2-4 Secondary Treatment Design Parameters ....................................................................................9

Table 2-5 Secondary Clarification Design Parameters ..................................................................................9

Table 2-6 Secondary Effluent Equalization Basins Design Parameters.......................................................10

Table 2-7 Secondary Effluent Pump Station Design Parameters................................................................10

Table 2-8 Flocculation/Sedimentation Tanks Design Parameters ..............................................................10

Table 2-9 Chemical Storage Facility Design Parameters.............................................................................11

Table 2-10 Cloth Disk Filters Design Parameters ........................................................................................12

Table 2-11 Chlorination System Design Parameters...................................................................................13

Table 2-12 Dechlorination System Design Parameters...............................................................................13

Table 2-13 Recycled water pump station Design Parameters ....................................................................14

Table 2-14 Solids Handling Design Parameters ..........................................................................................14



iii

ABBREVIATIONS

APN Assessor’s Parcel Number

BOD Biochemical Oxygen Demand

CCR California Code of Regulations
CDPH California Department of Public Health
CFD Computational Fluid Dynamics
City City of Turlock
CSD Community Services District
CT Contact Time

DAF Dissolved Air Flotation
DDW State Water Resources Control Board Division of Drinking Water (formerly CDPH)

FTW Filter-to-Waste

GAL Gallons
GPM Gallons per Minute
gpsfm Gallons per square foot per minute

HPS High Pressure Wash

IPP Industrial Pretreatment Program

kV Kilo-Volts
kW Kilo-Watts

MDB&M Mount Diablo Base and Meridian
MG Million Gallons
MGD Million Gallons per Day
MG/L Milligrams per liter
MPN Most Probable Number

NPDES National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System
NTU Nephelometric Turbidity Units

OCC Operations Control Center
ORP Oxidation-Reduction Potential

R Range
RWQCB Regional Water Quality Control Board
RWUA Recycled Water User Agreement



iv

SIU Significant Industrial User

T Township
TID Turlock Irrigation District
RWQCF Turlock Regional Water Quality Control Facility
TSS Total Suspended Solids

WDRs Waste Discharge Requirements
WEC Western Energy Center
RWQCF Wastewater Treatment Plant
VFD Variable Frequency Drive



5

INTRODUCTION

Purpose of this Title 22 Engineering Report
The purpose of this Title 22 Engineering Report (Report) is to describe the proposed use of recycled
water (produced by the City of Turlock) to commercial and residential users via self-serve filling stations
as well as to comply with Sections 60301 through 60355 of the California Code of Regulations (CCR),
Title 22, Division 4, Chapter 3.

This report details how the City of Turlock (City) Regional Water Quality Control Facility (RWQCF) will
provide the degree of treatment and reliability commensurate with the intended use, and that
distribution and use of the recycled water complies with the criteria stipulated in Title 22.

The City of Turlock proposes to provide recycled water to property owners and businesses in the
surrounding geographic areas adjacent to and within the City of Turlock.  Recycled water will be
provided to permitted industrial customers connecting to the existing recycled water distribution and
discharge system and permitted commercial and residential users through a number of drive up filling
stations located within City owned property located at the Regional Water Quality Control Facility
connected to the existing recycled water distribution system.

On June 3, 2014, the State Water Resources Control Board adopted General Order WQ2014-0090-DWQ
establishing general waste discharge requirements of recycled water use.  Within this Order are
requirements for the submittal of an Engineering Report to satisfy the California Department of Public
Health and Title 22 for recycled water use.  Prior to this, the SWRCB adopted General Order WQ 2009-
0006-WQ which provided a General Permit for landscape irrigation uses of municipal recycled water.
This Report has been prepared in conformance with Chapter 3, Section 60323 of Division 4 of Title 22 of
the California Code of Regulations (Title 22).  This Engineering Report describes how the City has the
ability produce up to 20.0 million gallons per day (MGD) of disinfected tertiary recycled water that
meets the requirements defined in Title 22 Section 60304.

Background
The City owns and operates a RWQCF that provides service to residences and businesses within the City
limits as well as the community services districts of Keyes and Denair and some primary treated
wastewater from the City of Ceres. The treatment system at the City’s RWQCF consists of screening,
primary treatment (flotation), secondary treatment (biotowers and activated sludge), secondary
clarification, flocculation/sedimentation, filtration, chlorine disinfection and sodium bisulfite
dechlorination.

The City’s RWQCF operates under Waste Discharge Requirements (WDR) Order No. R5-2015-0027
(NPDES No. CA 0078948) dated April 17, 2015 and Time Schedule Order R5-2014-0901 issued July 22,
2014 by the Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB).  The City’s RWQCF treats
wastewater to disinfected tertiary standards and discharges year-round into the Harding Drain Bypass
Pipeline directly to the San Joaquin River and into a recycled water distribution system that supplies
recycled water to the Turlock Irrigation District Walnut Energy Center (WEC) and to Pedretti Sports Park.
The City currently provides up to 2.0 MGD of recycled water to the WEC for cooling purposes and an
average of .10 MGD to the Pedretti Sports Complex for irrigation purposes. Table 1-1 lists the current
effluent quality requirements provided in the WDRs for discharges to the San Joaquin River.



6

Effluent Quality Requirements for Discharge to San Joaquin River Effective June 1, 2015

Parameter Average Monthly Average Weekly Maximum Daily
Biochemical Oxygen Demand, mg/l 10 15 20
Total Suspended Solids, mg/l 10 15 20
Ammonia April 16-October 31 .94 2.1 -
Ammonia November 1-April 15 2.1 4.7 -
Total Nitrogen, mg/l 31 38 -
Title 22 Disinfected Tertiary recycled water requirements

7-day Median Monthly Maximum
Total Coliform, MPN/100 ml 2.2 23

24 Hour Average
Turbidity 2



7

Recycled Water Project

Project Overview
Tertiary treated water from the Regional Water Quality Control Facility (RWQCF) discharges year-round
into the Harding Drain Bypass Pipeline to the San Joaquin River and via separate pumping facilities to
the Turlock Irrigation District Walnut Energy Center and City owned Pedretti Park Sports Complex.  The
tertiary treatment facilities have a design treatment capacity of 20 MGD average day annual flow
(ADAF).  Tertiary treatment facilities include coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, filtration, and
disinfection.

The City of Turlock proposes to provide recycled water to property owners and businesses in the
geographic areas surrounding and within the City of Turlock.  The City is proposing to provide recycled
water for commercial construction and landscape irrigation as well as residential customers for
landscape irrigation.  Recycled water will be provided to permitted users through a self-serve drive
through system.  Recycled water filling stations will be at a City owned and controlled location situated
along the existing recycled water distribution system.

Rules and Regulations
The procedures, restrictions, and other requirements for recycled water use as required by SWRCB
Order WQ2014-0090-DWQ and Title 22 will be specified in the Recycled Water Use Permit (see
Attachment A) issued to qualified applicants.  Prior to any use of recycled water and permit issuance
Users will attend mandatory training covering the rules and regulations of recycled water use.

Responsibility of the Producer, Distributer, & User of Recycled Water
The City (Recycled Water Producer and Distributor) is responsible for wastewater collection, treatment,
and recycled water distribution.  The City owns, operates, and maintains its sewage collection system,
treatment plant, and the recycled water distribution system.

As there will be Commercial use of the recycled water, the Commercial User will be trained in the
procedures, restrictions and requirements pertaining to distribution of recycled water.

Raw Wastewater Quality
The raw wastewater received at the City’s RWQCF is a combination of domestic and industrial
wastewater flows. The maximum, average, minimum and the 95th percentile value of the flows and the
characteristics of the raw wastewater are summarized in Table 2-1. The data in Table 2-1 is based on
monthly monitoring from January 2014 to December 2014.

Raw Wastewater Flows and Characteristics

Parameter Maximum Average Minimum 95th Percentile
Flow, MGD 19.4 9.8 6.9 11.3
Biochemical Oxygen Demand, mg/l 2038 544 160 812
Total Suspended Solids, mg/l 2900 501 265 804
pH, Units 8.1 7.0 6.3 7.2
Ammonia, mg/l 36 22 8.8 30.5



8

The City’s RWQCF provides sewage service to the City of Turlock, the community service districts (CSDs)
of Keyes and Denair, and receives primary treated effluent from the City of Ceres up to 2.0 MGD. The
City’s RWQCF also serves 12 significant industrial users (SIUs). The design daily average flow capacity of
the facility is 20 MGD.

As a part of the City’s NPDES permit the City maintains an industrial pretreatment program.  The
program is contained in the Turlock Municipal Code, Chapter 6-4, Sewage Disposal, Section 6-4-301
through 6-4-309, Discharges and Pretreatment Standards.  Industrial dischargers are required to obtain
a discharge permit from the City when their wastewater flow exceeds 25,000 gpd and/or their discharge
has the propensity to cause upset conditions at the RWQCF or the sanitary sewer collection system.  The
permitted industrial flow is approximately 40 percent of the total flow received at the RWQCF.

Existing Treatment Processes
Introduction

Attachment B shows a process flow diagram of the liquids and solids flow stream process.  The
treatment process is comprised of the following unit processes:

Screening

Prior to being pumped to the primary treatment process, any large objects or debris are currently
removed by two bar rack type screens.  Under normal flow conditions these screening facilities are
utilized.  During high flow events a second pump station can be put in service where four shaftless
auger/drum screens can be utilized.  The screened wastewater is then pumped by four variable speed
influent pumps, capable of pumping 30 MGD. Table 2-5 shows the design characteristics of the new
screening facility.

New Screening Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Number of Screens 2
Opening ¼”
Maximum Hydraulic Capacity (per unit) 10 MGD
Type Bar Screen

Primary Treatment

Due to the high vegetable matter and grease content of the influent wastewater, dissolved air flotation
(DAF) clarifiers are used in the primary treatment system. The design removal efficiencies of DAF
Clarifiers are 60 percent and 40 percent for TSS and BOD, respectively. In addition to removing
suspended solids, the DAF clarifiers also remove grit from the wastewater. Table 2-6 shows the design
parameters for the primary treatment.

Primary Treatment Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Number of Clarifiers 3
Type Dissolved Air Flotation
Diameter 85 ft
Capacity (each) 1400 GPD/SqFt



9

Secondary Treatment

Effluent from the DAF clarifiers flows via gravity to the filter pump station where it mixes with return
activated sludge (RAS). This mixture is pumped over two biotowers and into the activated sludge
system. A portion of the biotower effluent is recycled back to the biotowers to aid in the treatment
process. Waste solids from the activated sludge process are pumped to a gravity belt thickener (GBT)
and subsequently to an anaerobic digester.

The activated sludge process is designed and operated to nitrify incoming ammonia concentrations. This
unit process converts incoming ammonia into nitrate through biological activity. Table 2-7 lists the
design parameters of the secondary treatment process.

Secondary Treatment Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Biotowers 2 units
Diameter 100
Depth 20
Media Redwood
Activated Sludge 7 units
Volume 9.5 MG
Aeration Diffusers Fine Bubble

Secondary Clarification

Effluent from the aeration basins is distributed to four secondary clarifiers. Flow is regulated to each of
the clarifiers based on their hydraulic capacity.  Settled sludge is removed through draft tubes by gravity
to a regulating weir, and then to the filter pump station to be recirculated over the biotowers. The
clarified effluent flows either into two secondary effluent equalization basins or directly into the
secondary effluent pump station for subsequent pumping into the tertiary treatment system. Typical
removal efficiencies for the secondary treatment process are 90 percent for BOD and 95 percent for TSS.
Table 2-5 lists the design parameters of the secondary clarifications process.

Secondary Clarification Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Number of Clarifiers 4
Diameter 1 @ 90 ft

1 @ 120 ft
2@ 140 ft

Secondary Effluent Equalization Basins

Two flow equalization basins located between the secondary clarifiers and the effluent pump station can
be utilized to modulate the typical fluctuations in daily flows. The flow equalization basins store the
peak diurnal flows, and are emptied during periods of low flow. Through the flow equalization a
constant flow rate is maintained through the tertiary processes. A total of approximately 2.0 MG of
storage is provided within Secondary Effluent Equalization Basins 1 and 2. Design criteria for the
secondary effluent equalization basins are presented in Table 2-6.



10

Secondary Effluent Equalization Basins Design Parameters

Design Parameter Value

Number 2

Equalization Volume (total) 2.0 MGD

Secondary Effluent Pump Station

The secondary effluent pump station pumps secondary effluent from the flow equalization basins to the
tertiary facilities. Two of the four pumps are controlled with variable frequency drives (VFDs) to adjust
the pumping rate and match secondary effluent flows. The secondary effluent pump station design
criteria is presented in Table 2-7.

Secondary Effluent Pump Station Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Number of Pumps 4 (3 duty + 1 standby)
Type Submersible Centrifugal
Capacity Each 7,000 gpm

Flocculation/Sedimentation Tanks

Two high-rate flocculation/sedimentation tanks condition the secondary effluent prior to filtration. The
flocculation/sedimentation tanks include rapid mix, a reaction/flocculation zone, sludge recirculation for
increased solids, solids sedimentation with a bottom scraper, and tube settlers. On-line turbidity and pH
meters are provided upstream and downstream of this process to measure removal performance.
Depending on the choice of coagulant, waste sludge is pumped to one of two locations: 1) if ferric
chloride is used, the waste sludge is pumped to the acid-phase digester, or 2) if alum is used, then waste
sludge is pumped to two sludge drying beds.

Secondary effluent is discharged into the flash-mixing zone of the high rate flocculation/sedimentation
tanks. Coagulant is added to the secondary effluent in the flash-mix basin as the effluent is mixed with a
flash mixer. The coagulated secondary effluent then flows through the bottom of the flash-mix basin
into the base of the flocculation basin. The coagulated secondary effluent is discharged beneath an axial
flow impeller within a draft tube. Polymer is injected into a polymer dispersion ring located in the draft
tube to aid in the flocculation and settle ability of the coagulated particles. The effluent flows up
through the draft tube, where a specially designed turbine initiates flocculation by providing sufficient
energy for the mixing of the chemicals and raw water. Having formed a densely structured precipitate,
the flow moves from the flocculation zone into the pre-settling and thickening zone and finally into the
clarification zone. Lamellar tubes are incorporated on the top of the clarification zone. Moving through
the lamellar tubes, the flocculated effluent is collected through a series of launders or laterals which
discharge to an effluent trough. The design criteria for the high-rate flocculation sedimentation tanks
are presented in Table 2-8.

Flocculation/Sedimentation Tanks Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Design Flow 22.6 MGD
Hydraulic Loading ADWF (gpm) 5
Solids Loading ADWF (lb/D/sqft) 2.3



11

Chemical Storage Facility

The flocculation/sedimentation process requires both coagulation (alum or ferric chloride) and polymer
(liquid) feed. A separate concrete structure, open air, with containment walls, houses the polymer
blending units, chemical metering pumps, and chemical storage tanks. A roof for sunlight protection
over the feed pumps is also provided. Because of the corrosive nature of ferric chloride, the concrete
containment area is lined with a protective coating. The coagulation system chemicals are detailed in
Table 2-9.

Chemical Storage Facility Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Alum
Dosage 25 mg/l
Storage Volume 24,000 gal
Dosing Pumps 4
Ferric Chloride
Dosage 25 mg/l
Storage Volume 24,000 gal
Dosing Pumps 4
Polymer
Dosage 0.6 mg/l
Storage Volume 650 gal
Dosing Pumps 2

Cloth Disk Filters

Tertiary filtration is accomplished with Aqua-Aerobics AquaDisk cloth media disk filters. Eight pre-
engineered packaged filter units are installed on a common concrete pad. Each filter unit is equipped
with twelve cloth disks within the filter box. On-line turbidity meters are provided for continuous
effluent turbidity level monitoring and to ensure than an effluent turbidity of less than 2 Nephelometric
Turbidity Units (NTUs) is maintained. Each filter has motorized influent, effluent, and filter-to-waste
(FTW) valves and can operate independently of the other filter units. Each filter also contains six
backwash valves, one sludge waste valve, four high pressure wash valves, two backwash waste pumps,
and one filter drive.

Individual cloth disks can undergo backwashing while keeping the remaining disks in service. Once the
difference between the liquid in the tank and the effluent chamber exceeds a preset level, the backwash
cycle begins. The frequency and duration of backwash depends on the influent feed characteristics,
filtration rate, and amount of particles remaining on and within the filter cloth after previous backwash
cycles.

Fine particulate matter that is not effectively removed by normal backwash accelerates the head loss
development across the filters, and increases the backwash suction pressure. When the suction pressure
reaches a predetermined level, a high-pressure spray wash (HPS) starts. Once the HPS begins, the
influent valve to the filter tank is closed, stopping flow into the tank. The FTW (drain) valve is opened
and the liquid level in the tank flows by gravity down to below the mid-line of the disks. High-pressure
spray nozzles spray the outside of each disk with stored filtrate as the disks rotate at one rpm. After
about two revolutions of the disk, the influent valve is opened and flow to the filter is resumed for the
rinse cycle. The disks continue to rotate and the FTW valve remains open until the solids are forced to



12

the filtrate side and eliminated from the filtrate header and effluent chamber. This is achieved by on-line
turbidity monitoring of the FTW. Once the turbidity levels fall below a set value, the FTW valve is then
closed and the filtering process begins its next cycle.

Backwash and FTW flows are returned to Influent Pump Station 2. The filter controls monitor the
influent and effluent turbidity meters. The difference between the influent and effluent turbidity is used
for alarms and controls. If the turbidity reading for a given filter equals 2 NTU, a high turbidity alarm is
generated at the control. If the turbidity reading for a given filter is equal to or greater than 5 NTU, a
high turbidity alarm is generated and the filter control will take the filter off line automatically by closing
the influent and effluent valve for that filter, and by opening the filter to waste valve.

The design criteria for the cloth disk filters are presented in Table 2-10. As can be seen in the table, the
resulting loading rate with one unit out-of-service complies with the maximum cloth disk filtration rate
of 6.0 gpsfm, which is allowed by Title 22.

Cloth Disk Filters Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Number of Filters 8
Media Type Cloth
Media Surface per filter 645.6 sqft
Filtration Rate (@ ADWF w/ 1 unit out of service) 1.7 gpsfm

Chlorine Disinfection and Contact Tanks

Gaseous chlorine is utilized to disinfect the filtered effluent. The chlorination system is a liquid
withdrawal system in which liquid chlorine is transferred from one-ton cylinders to one of two
evaporators. Following the evaporators, gaseous chlorine is directed to five chlorinators that monitor
and feed appropriate chlorine dosages to the respective application points within the RWQCF. The
chlorine building is designed to store 18 cylinders with two sets of four cylinders being manifold to the
chlorine feed system.

Two evaporators are provided for redundancy purposes. Automatic switchover between the two-
manifold sets of tank chlorinators is provided. A chlorine scrubber system and fire sprinklers are
provided as safety features at the chlorine building. The building also provides housing to Substation 5
electrical switchgear, which serves the tertiary facilities.

Design criteria of the chlorine disinfection system are summarized in Table 2-11. To meet Title 22
disinfection requirements, Chlorine Contact Tanks 1 and 2 operate in parallel. Title 22 disinfection
requires a contact time (CT) of 450 milligram-minutes (90 minutes modal contact time, 5 mg/L residual
chlorine at the end of the tank at peak dry weather design flow.).

Both tanks are covered to prevent loss of chlorine from sunlight and evaporation, as well as to prevent
airborne contamination.  A submersible induction mixing system (Water Champ) is installed at the inlet
to the tanks for chlorine induction and to promote better mixing. The chlorine residual is measured
using a chlorine residual analyzer. Chlorine Contact Tanks 1 and 2 design criteria are provided in Table 2-
11.

Chlorine Contact Tanks 1 and 2 utilize several tools to optimize the hydraulic efficiency and to achieve
near plug flow characteristics of the basins:

Long channel to increase length to width ratio.



13

A computational fluid dynamic model (CFD) using finite element analysis was performed in the design of
the tanks to determine and minimize short-circuiting.
An energy dissipation baffle was placed at the inlet of each tank to promote even flow distribution and
prevent short-circuiting flow patterns.
Depth to width ratio was set at 1:1.
A concrete roof cover over the entire tank to protect from external contamination (e.g. dust, birds, etc.)
and elimination of wind effect, which can cause surface currents.
Use of bulb shape at the ends of the partition walls to minimize short-circuiting.
Curved wall at each change of direction.
Provisions for cleaning.
Weirs at tank exit to maintain depth.
As part of the start-up of the tertiary treatment facilities at the RWQCF, a tracer test was conducted on
Chlorine Contact Tanks 1 and 2 to confirm a minimum modal contact time of 90 minutes within the
contact basin. The results showed that the 90-minute modal contact time requirement was achieved in
one of the chlorination contact basins at a test flow of 11.3 MGD. The actual modal contact time
determined was 126 minutes. Table 2-11 lists the design parameters of the chlorination system.

Chlorination System Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Disinfectant Chlorine Gas
Number of Cylinders 12
Dose 12 mg/l
Evaporators 2
Capacity of each evaporator 10,000 lbs/d
Chlorinators 5
Capacity of each chlorinator 2,000 lbs/d
Chlorine Contact Basins 2
Volume each 1.09 MG
Modal Contact Time @ 22.6 MGD 126 min

Dechlorination System

To meet the NPDES requirement, the facility effluent must be dechlorinated prior to discharge to
receiving waters. Dechlorination is accomplished by use of liquid sodium bisulfite, which is fed from the
dechlorination facility to the effluent Parshall flume. A chemical diffuser disperses sodium bisulfite at
the outlet of the Parshall flume. The dechlorination facility includes two storage tanks, chemical
metering pumps, and concrete containment area. The design criteria for the dechlorination facility are
presented in Table 2-12.

Dechlorination System Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Dechlorination Chemical Sodium Bisulfite
Storage Volume 20,000 gal
Dosing Pumps 2



14

Recycled Water Pump Station

The recycled water pump serves two similar recycled water projects.  The recycled water pumps deliver
recycled water via the recycled water distribution system detailed in Section 3 of this report. The pump
station functions as two separate pump stations, with one set of pumps dedicated to serving the TID
WEC and the other set serving the City’s Pedretti Park irrigation site. Design criteria for the recycled
water pump station is presented in Table 2-13.

Recycled water pump station Design Parameters

Parameter Value
TID Recycled Water Pumps
Number 3 (2 duty, 1 standby)
Flow @ Head 700 gpm @ 50 ft
City of Turlock Recycled Water Pumps
Number 2 (1 duty, 1 standby)
Flow @ Head 1,400 gpm @ 230 ft

Solids Handling

Solids removed from the primary and secondary processes are pumped to one acid-phase digester. The
digester is mixed by gas diffusers and the solids are recirculated through heat exchangers for optimum
temperature control. From the acid-phase digester, sludge flows into five methane digesters. Each
methane digester has a detention time of 15 to 20 days. Solids from the methane digesters overflows
into a secondary digester. The secondary digester is not mixed or heated. The solids are allowed to
settle in the secondary digester. The settled solids are pumped to drying beds for dewatering. The
secondary digester has a floating cover that provides gas storage for three boilers. Hot water produced
by the boilers is utilized to maintain the proper temperature for efficient anaerobic stabilization in the
anaerobic digesters.

Dried biosolids are removed from the drying beds and screened as needed to remove inert material.
Biosolids are land applied to agricultural land. A small portion of the City’s biosolids is composted with
green waste. Table 2-14 shows the design parameters of the solids handling facilities.

Solids Handling Design Parameters

Parameter Value
Acid Phase Digesters
Number 1
Diameter 40 ft
Depth 36 ft
Detention time 2.6 days
Methane Phase Digesters
Number 6
Diameter/Depth 2 @ 65 ft/ 25 ft

2@ 80 ft/ 25 ft
1 @ 85 ft/ 26 ft

Sludge Drying Beds
Number 24



15

Telemetry System

In 1991, the City installed a telemetry system (SCADA) to monitor the City’s water and wastewater
systems. Currently the RWQCF has the ability to monitor and remotely control the majority of the
treatment processes. The system enables staff to more closely monitor electrical and mechanical
equipment and notification of system failures.

Operations and Maintenance Manuals

Operations and Maintenance Manuals (O/M) from the 1972, 1978, 2003, 2006 and the 2014 RWQCF
expansions and compliance construction projects are available to staff as well as O/M manuals from the
respective equipment manufacturers.  In addition, Operations and Maintenance staff has access to
Engineering/Consulting staff for assistance during extraordinary circumstances.

Plant Reliability Features
The RWQCF has built-in reliability features in compliance with Sections 60333 through 60355 of Title 22
CCR. The design of process piping, number of units/equipment, and equipment arrangement within the
tertiary treatment facilities allows for efficient and convenient operation and maintenance. In addition,
the design provides operational flexibility, such that the highest possible degree of treatment can be
attained under varying circumstances.

Alarms

Process instrumentation is available at all treatment processes that are critical for the adequate
performance of the RWQCF in accordance with Section 60335 of the CCR. Alarms are generated when
the readings provided by the process instrumentation are not within the specified limits. Specifically,
alarms are provided for notice of:

Loss of power from the normal power supply.
Failure of the biological treatment processes.
Failure of the disinfection process.
Failure of the coagulation process.
Failure of the filtration process.
Additional process failures throughout the RWQCF.
Failure of any of the above-mentioned processes initiates various alarms at the Operations Control
Center (OCC), remote OCC monitoring stations and via cell phone carried by Operations Staff.   For the
purposes of this report OCC means all of these notification systems. Alarms are installed to warn of
failure of critical unit processes and equipment. In the event of power loss, wastewater flow is diverted
to the emergency holding basins until power is restored. All alarms are connected to a UPS backup
power supply.

Alarms sound locally at the treatment process where the alarm condition is taking place as well as in the
facility OCC. An alarm condition appears on the alarm log as well as on the operator’s monitoring screen.
Changes to the operation of the facility can be made at the OCC and/or from the local equipment area.

Power Supply

Power supply is provided by two separate 12 kilovolt (kV) power service feeds from the TID grid for
redundancy. The two power service feeds terminate at the primary electrical service building. From
there power is distributed to individual unit substations throughout the facility. In the event of power
loss from the Grid power supply, backup power supply is available. A backup emergency power



16

generator provides electric power to the influent pumping station and administration buildings.  During
the automatic power transfer, partially treated wastewater flow is diverted to the existing 30-million
gallon emergency storage holding basins. Following notification and successful power transfer, facility
staff must manually restart the biotower pump station, the secondary effluent pump station, and the
aeration basin blowers. All other equipment is automatically restarted upon power transfer.

Due to the critical safety nature of the chlorine building, a dedicated backup power supply is provided
via the 125-kw generator. The generator provides power to chlorine sensors, alarms, automatic shut off
valves on the chlorine cylinders, and to the chlorine scrubber system. In addition to meeting the alarm
and standby power source feature of Section 60337, the RWQCF also provides for alarm and
automatically actuated short-term retention of wastewater flows, as described in Section 60341.

As required in Section 60337, the RWQCF provides alarms at critical unit processes and a standby power
source.

The treatment facility is staffed 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. All operations staff are State certified
through the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) Office of Certification.

The design of the RWQCF provides multiple treatment units, standby equipment, and spare parts for
critical equipment. Multiple treatment units allow individual units to be out-of-service for maintenance
or repair while maintaining treatment capability.  Standby equipment and spare parts are provided for
redundancy.

Headworks

The headworks consist of two identical size screens with a maximum hydraulic capacity of 20 MGD per
unit. The peak hydraulic capacity of the WWTP is provided with one screen out-of-service. If one of the
mechanical screens fails to operate, the water level in the influent channel will rise. An influent channel
high level alarm is activated to alert operators of the problem.  During conditions of high influent flow,
as second pump station and screening system can be put into service.

Primary DAF clarifiers

The three primary DAF clarifiers have a maximum hydraulic capacity of 7.0 MGD per unit. The peak
hydraulic capacity of the RWQCF is provided with one primary DAF clarifier out-of-service. This meets
the reliability requirement of Section 60343. The mechanical equipment associated with the primary
DAF clarifiers includes the collector drive mechanisms, the pressurization/recycle pumps, and the air
compressor system.

The following alarms are available at the primary DAF clarifiers:

Fail alarms at all pieces of power driven equipment.
High and low pressure alarms for the air compressor system.
High and low level alarm at the float pit wet well, which provides temporary storage of primary
float/sludge.
Emergency Holding Basins

The Emergency holding basin provides short-term primary effluent storage. The emergency holding
basin allow for 30 MG of storage capacity and stored flows can be returned to the RWQCF headworks at
a flow rate determined by operations staff.



17

Biotower Pump Station

The biotower pump station provides pumping of primary effluent and return activated sludge (RAS) to
Biotowers 1 and 2. The pump station has four duty pumps and one standby pump. Alarms are provided
to alert of pump failure and high and low level on the wet well.

Biotowers

There are two biotowers. Multiple units allow a unit to be out-of-service while still providing a varying
degree of secondary treatment to the entire flow stream. Subsequent aeration basins, which are located
downstream of the biotowers, provide sufficient secondary treatment capacity at average flow
conditions if one of the biotowers was out-of-service.

Aeration Basins

As required within Section 60345, a minimum of one of the reliability requirements is being satisfied at
the RWQCF. Accordingly, both Part A and B of Section 60345 are provided.

There are seven activated sludge aeration basins. Multiple basins allow a unit to be out-of-service while
still providing sufficient treatment at average flow conditions. In the event that a basin is out-of-service
during peak flow or load periods, primary effluent can be stored in the emergency holding basins.

Secondary Clarification

As required within Section 60347, a minimum of one of the reliability requirements is being satisfied at
the RWQCF. Accordingly, both Part A and B of Section 60347 are provided.

There are four secondary clarifiers. Multiple clarifiers allow units to be out-of-service and still provide
sufficient secondary treatment capacity at ADWF conditions. The only mechanical equipment associated
with each secondary clarification unit is the clarifier drive mechanism. A fail alarm is available at the
clarifier drive mechanism.

Sludge Pumping

Both primary sludge and waste activated sludge (WAS) are pumped. RAS is returned to the biotower
pump station either by gravity or by pumping. Fail alarms are available at each of the sludge pumps. A
total of five primary sludge pumps are available to pump primary sludge - one duty per primary DAF
Clarifier and two standby pumps.

Secondary Effluent Pump Station

The secondary effluent pump station has three duty pumps, one standby pump, and alarms for pump
failure. There are also high and low level alarms on the wet well.

Secondary Equalization Basins

Peak flows in excess of 20 MGD can be diverted to Secondary Equalization Basins 1 and 2 for diurnal
storage. In addition, Secondary Equalization Basins 1 and 2 allows for secondary effluent storage during
emergency conditions. As such, these two basins can be used in conjunction with the Emergency
Holding Basin for short-term storage. Secondary Equalization Basins 1 and 2 provide approximately 2.0
MG of secondary effluent storage.



18

Chemical Feed Systems

As required within Section 60349, Part A, all of the listed reliability requirements are satisfied at the
RWQCF. The polymer and coagulant feed systems, which are located in the chemical handling facility,
include the following features:

The polymer feed system includes a total of two units. The polymer feed system utilizes two polymer
totes for storage of neat polymer.
The coagulant storage tanks provide a combined storage time of 61 storage days at the design
treatment capacity.
Automatic dosage control of polymer and coagulant is provided in conjunction with the high-rate
clarifier/thickener treatment system. The feed systems are alarmed for pump failure and high and low
liquid levels within the storage tanks.
In addition to the above design characteristics, the chemical feed systems satisfy a minimum of one of
the outlined reliability features of Section 60439, Part B, as required. Specifically, both Parts 1 and 2 are
being met. Alarm and multiple coagulant units are provided to treat the entire flow up to 20 MGD with
one unit out-of-service. In addition, alarm, short-term retention provisions (using the holding basins),
and standby equipment are provided to meet reliability requirements.

Flocculation/Sedimentation Tanks

The flocculation/sedimentation tanks have alarms to alert operations staff of a mechanical mixer,
flocculator, and/or clarifier drive failure. Influent and effluent turbidity and pH meters provide
continuous monitoring of the two streams. There are two treatment units. The multiple configuration
allows one of the units to be out-of-service while still providing sufficient treatment capacity of 20 MGD.

Cloth Disk Filtration

As required within Section 60351, the filtration system provides a minimum of one of the outlined
reliability features. Specifically, both Parts A and B are being satisfied. There are eight filter units. The
multiple configuration allows one unit to be out-of-service while still providing treatment capacity of 20
MGD with a hydraulic loading rate of 3.0 gpm/ft2, which is lower than the maximum rate 6.0 gpm/ft2

allowed under Title 22. Each filter is provided with alarms for equipment failure. Each filter effluent line
has continuous turbidity monitoring and an alarm for high turbidity. Under high turbidity conditions, the
following scenario is initiated:

If a high turbidity alarm results from one filter, the filter will be automatically shut-down and the
backwash and/or high-pressure wash modes initiated.
Operations staff will be notified at the OCC of the alarm.
Upon completion of the backwash and/or high-pressure wash cycles, the filter will initiate the filter-to-
waste mode. When the filter-to-waste flow shows satisfactory turbidity levels, the filter will return to
normal operation.
If the filter-to-waste flow does not meet turbidity levels within an operator-set period, the filter will be
automatically shut-down and facility staff will be notified through the OCC.
Chlorine Disinfection

As required within Section 60353, Part A, all of the listed reliability requirements are satisfied at the
RWQCF. The chlorination feed system, which is located in the new chlorine building, includes the
following features:

Standby chlorine supply consisting of 18 one-ton cylinders.



19

Two manifold systems, each connecting four one-ton cylinders.
Chlorine scales located on each of the manifold system cylinders.
Automatic switchover device between the two manifold systems.
Chlorine residual monitoring verifies proper operation and control dosing for disinfection at the OCC.

In addition to the above design characteristics, the chlorination system satisfies a minimum of one of
the outlined reliability features of Section 60353, Part B, as required. Specifically, Parts 1, 2, and 5 are
met. Alarms and a standby chlorinator unit are provided to treat the entire flow up to 22.6 MGD with
one unit out-of-service. In addition, alarm, short-term retention provisions (using the holding basins),
and standby replacement equipment is provided to meet reliability requirements. Also, multiple point
chlorination is available to operations staff - either at the influent box of the chlorine contact tank, the
influent line to the cloth disk filters, or the secondary clarifier launders. Each injection point has a
separate chlorinator and the ability for a separate chlorine supply through the operation of both
manifold systems.

Due to the critical safety nature of the chlorine building, an additional backup power supply is provided
via a 125-kw generator. The generator provides power to chlorine sensors, alarms, automatic shut off
valves on the chlorine cylinders, and to the chlorine scrubber system.

Chlorine Contact Tank and Effluent Quality Monitoring

Chlorine Residual

A chlorine residual monitor is provided in the chlorine contact tank. Chlorine residual is continuously
monitored to determine if the chlorine residual is sufficient.

Effluent Turbidity

A facility effluent turbidity meter measures the turbidity of the facility effluent leaving the chlorine
contact tank.  Turbidity is continuously monitored to determine if the 24 hour average effluent turbidity
is 2 NTU or less.

Controls:

Chlorine Residual Analyzer:
Alternate method to provide a signal which can be used to control gas feed rate for Chlorinators 1 and 2.
Monitors the level of chlorine residual to calculate the disinfection CT level (modal contact time in
minutes multiplied by chlorine residual in mg/L) for Title 22 compliance. Target minimum CT is 450
mg/L-min.

Turbidity meter Analyzer:
Monitors the level of turbidity for Title 22 compliance in NTU.
If turbidity reading is equal to or greater than 2 NTU, an alarm shall be generated at the SCADA system.
If turbidity reading is equal to or greater than 5.0 NTU, an alarm shall be generated at the SCADA system
and the facility water quality failure shut down sequence shall be initiated. See Junction Box 8.
Junction Box 8

Junction Box 8 is a hydraulic structure that receives the disinfected facility effluent out of the chlorine
contact tank. This junction box serves two purposes:

Connects the chlorine contact tank to the existing 48-inch facility effluent pipe.
Allows the operator to divert the facility effluent from flowing to the Harding Drain Bypass Pipeline and
instead to flow to the secondary effluent equalization basins in case of effluent water quality failure.



20

Under normal operation, the gate to the effluent pipe is open and the effluent by-pass gate to the
equalization basin is closed.

Controls

Effluent water quality failure is defined as follows: Monitors the level of chlorine residual and turbidity
for compliance with California Title 22.

Chlorine Residual Failure: If the level of chlorine residual in the chlorine contact tank is less than 5 mg/L.
Facility Effluent Turbidity meter Failure: If turbidity reading is equal to or greater than 5.0 NTU, an alarm
shall be generated at the SCADA system and the facility water quality failure shut down sequence shall
be initiated.
In case of effluent water quality failure, the SCADA has two settings:

Setting 1: Alarm Warning. Any one of the two or a combination of these two water quality failures will
trigger an automatic alarm at the SCADA. The operator can then decide to bypass the facility effluent
flume.
Setting 2: Same as Setting 1 except that the Alarm Warning triggers an automatic alarm at the SCADA
and automatically shut down and bypass the facility effluent flume. As soon as this happens, the
secondary effluent pump station and biotower pump station will shut down.
Effluent Junction Box 9

Junction Box 9 is the last flow control structure before the treated effluent leaves the facility and is
discharged to the outfall. It contains a gate that the sole purpose is to stop flow from leaving the
RWQCF. The gate is controlled by a pneumatic cylinder. An air receiver is located adjacent to the
pneumatic air cylinder which allows the gate to close automatically even if under a power loss situation.
If a power loss occurs, the gate will automatically close and must be manually reset.

If the gate is closed, the flow is automatically diverted to the emergency holding ponds, which can hold
approximately three days of flow.

Supplemental Water Supply
A failure of the treatment system, such as a biological upset, a mechanical process failure, a high
turbidity in the effluent, or low chlorine residual, could temporarily cease production and distribution of
recycled water.

As the recycled water supply is meant to offset the use of potable water normally used by the User,
there is no provision to provide a supplemental water supply in the event recycled water is unavailable.

Monitoring and Reporting
Monitoring and reporting at the RWQCF is conducted in accordance with Monitoring and Reporting
Program contained within RWQCB Order No. R5-2015-0027.  The RWQCF operates its own ELAP
certified laboratory for routine analyses including BOD5, TSS, turbidity, coliform bacteria, chlorine
residual, and other parameters.  Parameters to be monitored for Title 22 compliance include continuous
turbidity monitoring and daily grab sampling for total coliform.  A flow based programmable sampler is
provided downstream of the effluent Parshall flume for composite sample collection.

Composite samplers are periodically calibrated in accordance with the manufacturer’s maintenance
instructions. Operating records and reports are maintained and submitted as required by the RWQCB
and Title 22. Additional operating records are compiled to monitor and control treatment facility
operations. Records include regular water quality analysis and logging of operational problems, facility



21

and equipment breakdowns and repair schedules, diversions of primary effluent to the Emergency
Holding Basins and recycled water to the Chlorine Contact Tank 1 and 2 or to the final effluent pump
station, and corrective and preventative actions taken to comply with permit requirements.

Maintenance practices are based on those recommended by the equipment manufacturer, the EPA and
others. Maintenance records are kept to help track equipment performance.  Preventative maintenance
is performed such that all equipment is kept in a reliable operating condition.  All instrumentation and
turbidity monitoring equipment is calibrated on a regular basis by an instrumentation technician.

Contingency Plan
This Section provides a description of the contingency measures that will be taken by the City to prevent
inadequately treated wastewater from being delivered to recycled water users.

The City’s contingency plan for on-site treatment system operations is implemented for treatment
process failure or equipment downtime at the RWQCF. The main conditions of treatment system
operations that could necessitate the diversion of recycled water are: 1) secondary treatment process
failure, 2) high turbidity leaving the filter system, and 3) high bacterial count leaving the disinfection
facilities.

Regular analysis of the secondary system alerts operations staff to potential problems in the operation
of biological processes in the activated sludge process. Alarms on critical equipment also alert operators
of equipment failure and the possible need to modify treatment facility operations.

The turbidity of the treated effluent leaving the filters must average 2 NTU during a 24 hour period and
cannot exceed 5 NTU more than 5 percent of the time.  Continuous turbidity monitoring connected to
an alarm system ensures this limitation is consistently met.  An alarm is triggered whenever the effluent
from a filter unit exceeds 2 NTU. If the turbidity exceeds 2 NTU from one filter for a set period of time,
the filter is shut-down and automatically backwashed.  If the turbidity exceeds 2 NTU from two or more
filters, flow ceases to the tertiary facilities and is automatically diverted.  The facility operator responds
to the alarm, evaluates the situation, and has the option of implementing the following measures to
correct the situation:

Shut-down the biotower pump station and begin diversion of primary effluent to the Emergency Holding
Basin.
Modify the polymer and coagulant dosages within the Coagulation/Sedimentation Tanks 1 and 2 to
increase turbidity removal.
Reduce filter hydraulic loading to increase turbidity removal.
Modify the filter backwash rate.
Modify the operation of the activated sludge process to decrease the turbidity entering the tertiary
facilities.
At Junction Box 8, begin diversion of facility effluent to the equalization basins. The flow from these
basins can either be reprocessed through the tertiary treatment or drained into the facility sewer for
complete retreatment.
Once the filter effluent turbidity is below the alarm set point established to consistently meet the
turbidity limitation, the filter effluent is returned to the recycled water facilities.

Chlorine is used for disinfection. If the effluent coliform concentration exceeds 2.2 most probable
number per 100 milliliters (MPN/100 mL), the recycled water pump station is turned off. Recycled water



22

distribution will not resume until the coliform count is less than 2.2 MPN/100 mL for three consecutive
days.

In an emergency situation or in the event that effluent not meeting disinfected tertiary quality is
accidentally discharged, recycled water users and DDW are notified immediately by phone. In a non-
emergency situation, such as a minor monitoring violation, records are kept at the RWQCF. Once
operation of the tertiary facilities has been reestablished, the RWQCF notifies the users that recycled
water is available.

There is no foreseeable circumstance when the alarm system would not be responded to since an
audible alarm is located at the RWQCF and the facility is staffed 24 hours a day.

Section 3 - Recycled Water Transmission and Distribution
Facilities
3.1 Introduction
This Section discusses the operation of the existing recycled water pumping, and distribution systems.  A
map showing the location of the recycled water transmission and distribution system is included in
Attachment C.

Recycled Water Delivery
Delivery of recycled water to mobile commercial and residential users will be provided by an on-site
filling station at the City owned Regional Water Quality Control Facility.  The recycled water delivery
filling system will consist of 1 inch PVC “nozzles” with manual shut off valves connected to the RWQCF
tertiary treated process water distribution system.

Residential Users will fill their properly labeled containers through these nozzles.  Each User will be
limited to a maximum of 300 gallons per visit.  Portable containers or tanks are prohibited from being
connected to any potable water supply system.

Commercial users will utilize a valved and metered connection with 2”-3” hose connections for filling of
non-potable water tanks meeting City requirements.  This filling system will be connected to the existing
distribution system that supplies recycled water to the Regional Water Quality Control Facility.
Commercial users (Haulers) shall maintain and keep in each vehicle a daily log book of recycled water
delivery.  Each entry shall contain at a minimum the following information; date of delivery, name and
address of delivery/recipient, type of use, volume delivered/used and intended use of water delivered.
Connection to any potable water delivery system is prohibited.

Delivery of recycled water to industrial users for process water needs will be provided through direct
connection to the existing distribution and discharge system.  Prior to approving a connection, these
Users must comply with the requirements of the City of Turlock Recycled Water Rules and Requirements
inclusive of Title 22 requirements and .



Section 4 - Recycled Water Use Areas

4.1 Use Area Description
The project intends to provide recycled water for commercial uses related to construction water (soil
compaction, dust control, cement mixing etc..) and landscape services as well as residential users who
wish to utilize recycled water for their home landscape, gardening and water feature needs.  However,
approved uses relative to this program will be limited to soil compaction, dust control, cement mixing
and landscape irrigation for commercial/residential landscape, gardening and water features.  This is
only a partial list of allowable uses for disinfected tertiary recycled water as noted in Title 22 Article 3.
Other allowed uses for industrial process water as listed within Title 22 will be considered on a case by
case basis, provided all regulatory requirements are met.

The anticipated use area within the surrounding Turlock area is a mixture of commercial, industrial and
residential development typical of Central Valley communities.  There are no natural drainage courses
within the City.  Consequently, storm water flows are regulated by holding basins and eventual
discharge to irrigation canals, the wastewater treatment facility or percolate into the soil.

The volume of recycled water used by any one user is anticipated to pose little if any threat to
groundwater or potable water supplies.  This reasoning is supported by the concept that in order to
cause any impact to ground water supplies the quantity of recycled water applied would overwhelm the
location it is being applied on.

Training and use restrictions will mitigate any potential threat to potable water supplies.

Through required training, Users of recycled water will be responsible for following the rules and
regulations of the City of Turlock Recycled Water Program;

Follow and abide by requirements of the Turlock Municipal Code, City’s Recycled Water Rules and
Regulations, California Code of Regulations Title 22, Division 4, Chapter 3, State Water Resources
Control Board Order WQ 2014-0090-DWQ General Waste Discharge Requirements for Recycled Water
Use, Regional Water Quality Control Board Order R5-2015-0027 and other Federal, State, County
regulations related to the proper use of recycled water.

Failure to do so will result in revocation of their City issued permit.  Violations of the aforementioned
regulatory requirements may result in monetary fines pursuant to City of Turlock Municipal Code 2-11.

Training
This section describes the training that City (Administrator) and Users will receive to ensure compliance
with the City’s Recycled Water Rules and Regulations.

Users will be trained in the proper use of recycled water by the Administrator.  The recycled water User
training program will include, but not be limited to, the following:

Users will be aware that recycled water, although highly treated, is non-potable. Recycled water may
never be used for human consumption.
Users must understand that working with recycled water is safe, if good judgment is used and
appropriate rules are followed.



24

Users must understand that conditions such as ponding, overspray and runoff of recycled water are not
allowed and should be corrected immediately.
Good personal hygiene must be followed (i.e. washing hands after working with recycled water).
Users must understand where the recycled water and domestic water pipelines are located and there is
never to be a direct connection between the recycled water system and the potable water system.
Users must understand that adequate measures shall be taken to minimize public contact with recycled
water.
Users must understand that any device, hose, pipe, meter, valve, tank, pump, truck, etc. which has been
used with recycled water may not be used to convey potable water nor attached to the potable water
system unless it is cleaned and properly disinfected.

City Employee Training

The employees of the RWQCF are trained in the proper use of recycled water. Training seminars are
conducted for new site supervisors and new employees as well as to refresh experienced personnel.
These seminars are specific to the needs of the individuals being trained and include treatment plant
operations and maintenance, regulations regarding the use of recycled water, and monitoring and
reporting procedures.

The City employees involved in the treatment and distribution of recycled water receive training dealing
with the tertiary treatment process and the regulations for use as it applies to their responsibilities. The
on-site supervisors receive City-sponsored training specific to the distribution and use of recycled water.
The emphasis is on the proper operation of the facility to protect public health and comply with the
recycled water regulations.



25

CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTICE OF INTENT FOR THE USE OF RECYCELD WATER

WITHIN STANISLAUS COUNTY

SECTION I – FACILITY/WASTEWATER TREATMENT INFORMATION

TRWQCF Description:  The City of Turlock Regional Water Quality Control Facility (TRWQCF) is designed
to treat an average of 20 MGD and is currently treating an average influent flow of 10.3 MGD.
Wastewater influent consists of wastewater from the City of Turlock, Community Service Districts of
Keyes and Denair and up to 2 MGD of primary treated wastewater from the City of Ceres.  The TRWQCF
produces disinfected tertiary treated water that meets Title 22 standards for unrestricted use pursuant
to Title 22 sections 60301.230(a)(1).  For the purposes of this NOI the City intends to provide its tertiary
treated water to interested persons for other purposes as allowed by Title 22 section 60307 (a) & (b)
such as industrial process water that may come into contact with workers 60307(a) and for transient
uses such as construction water for soil compaction, cement mixing (60307)(b) and landscape watering.

Owned and operated by the City of Turlock, pretreatment and primary treatment consists of: influent
screening, grit removal, primary flotation, secondary treatment (which consists of activated bio-filtration
for BOD/TSS reduction and nitrification), secondary clarification, tertiary treatment (which consists of
high rate clarification with chemical addition, cloth disk filters), disinfection via chlorination,
dechlorination by sodium bisulfite, effluent discharge to San Joaquin River, up to 2 MGD provided for
cooling water purposes to 250 MW gas fired cogeneration facility and an annual average of 100,000 gpd
for irrigation of Pedretti Park Regional Sports Complex, solids handling (which consists of gravity belt
thickener for waste activated sludge, anaerobic digestion via acid phase digester, methane phase
digesters, sludge drying beds) and beneficial reuse of biosolids via land application to farmland and co-
compost for public distribution.

The wastewater facilities also include a 37.2 million gallon earthen emergency storage basin, which
allows the diversion and storage of primary effluent if necessary. The emergency storage basin was
constructed with a 6” bentonite liner on the bottom and sides. The basin is used for the temporary
storage of wet weather influent flows that may exceed treatment unit capacity’s, influent waste loads
that may cause treatment plant upsets or to hold effluent wastewater that may not meet effluent
permit limitations.

A more detailed description of the treatment systems is provided below.

Preliminary treatment: Preliminary treatment includes coarse screening to remove debris and influent
pumping to lift the wastewater from the Incoming sewers to allow it to flow by gravity through the
primary treatment process.

Primary treatment: Primary treatment consists of flotators which remove solids, organic matter, and
grit (such as sand, rocks and other inert materials). The flotators lift the lighter solids, primarily from
industries, using fine bubbles that are entrained into the incoming wastewater. Heavier solids and grit
are settled to the bottom of the flotators and pumped out for dewatering and disposal in a landfill.

Secondary treatment: Secondary treatment is accomplished with an integrated treatment train
consisting of biotowers, aeration basins and secondary clarifiers.  Secondary treatment removes



26

dissolved organic material and provides further removal of suspended solids left from primary
treatment. The secondary processes also reduce ammonia levels in the effluent.

Tertiary treatment: Tertiary treatment is achieved with high rate flocculation/sedimentation basins,
tertiary filters, and chlorine contact tanks.  Flocculation/sedimentation basins and filters are used to
remove remaining fine particles in the effluent. Chlorine contact tanks (CCTs), the final liquid treatment
process, allow time for chlorine solution to provide a high level of disinfection of the effluent before it is
discharged to the San Joaquin River or sent to recycled water customers.

Solids processing: Solids removed from the treatment processes are processed with anaerobic digesters.
The digesters utilize anaerobic bacteria to reduce the volume and organic content of the solids. After
passing through the digesters, the solids are dried in concrete lined sludge drying beds. When dry, the
biosolids are trucked by an outside contractor to a permitted agricultural site for beneficial reuse.  A
portion of the dried solids are co-composted with green waste to create a finished compost product.

The digesters produce biogas (methane) as a byproduct of the biological process. Much of the gas is
utilized for heating the anaerobic digesters to sustain the process.  Excess gas is flared off.

Best Practices:  The operation and maintenance of the TRWQCF is dictated by State and Federal
discharge requirements, San Joaquin Valley Unified Air Pollution Control District regulations, Integrated
Waste Management Board regulations, SWRCB DDW ELAP requirements as well as other regulatory
agencies.  Abiding by these regulations is accomplished through the Operation and Maintenance
manuals developed by CH2M Hill in 1978, Carollo Engineers in 2003 & 2006, City developed Standard
Operating Procedures, laboratory QA/QC manual and other resources available depending on the
specific situation.  Additionally, all operations staff are certified by the SWRCB as Wastewater Treatment
Plant Operators in various Grades from Operator I to Operator V.  Additionally, Electrical/Mechanical
and Laboratory staffs are certified by the California Water Environment Association in specific disciplines
related to their job description.

Disposal Methods:  Final effluent from the TRWQCF is discharged to the San Joaquin River.  This is
accomplished by a 3 mile outfall pipeline which connects to a pump station and subsequent discharge
into a 36” pipeline directly to the San Joaquin River.

A summary of the final effluent characteristics and flow variations for calendar year 2014 is provided
below.



27

2014 TRWQCF FINAL EFFLUENT CHARACTERISTICS
2014 EFF. EFF EFF EFF EFF E.C. EFF. EFF. EFF. EFF. EFF.

Average FLOW BOD TSS SET Coliform GRAB pH ALK. TURBITY D.O. NH3-N
MGD mg/l mg/l SOLIDS Bacteria MHOS/cm GRAB COMP. COMP GRAB COMP

Month X X X ml/L MPN/100mlX X mg/L NTU mg/l mg/L
Jan 8.4 2 5 <0.1 <2 998 6.9 120 1.9 8.3 0.6
Feb 8.3 2 8 <0.1 <2 996 6.8 118 2.2 8.4 4.6
Mar 8.7 2 8 <0.1 <2 959 6.8 118 2.6 8.6 2
Apr 9.2 2 7 <0.1 <2 1014 6.8 118 2.3 8.4 2.1
May 8.2 2 4 <0.1 <2 1028 7 130 1.8 8.2 <1.0
Jun 8.2 2 4 <0.1 <2 1083 6.9 126 1.7 8 <0.5
Jul 8.4 2 5 <0.1 <2 1103 7 130 1.9 8 0.3
Aug 8.8 2 5 <0.1 <2 1111 6.9 128 1.9 7.9 <1.0
Sep 8.4 3 5 <0.1 <2 1102 7 128 1.8 7.8 <1.0
Oct 8.7 3 5 <0.1 <2 1066 6.9 125 1.4 7.8 <1.0
Nov 8.5 3 5 <0.1 <2 1004 6.8 108 1.4 8.6 <1.0
Dec 8.4 3 5 <0.1 <2 916 6.8 108 1.7 8.6 <1.0
Total 102.2 28 66 12380 82.6 1457 22.6 98.6 9.6
High 9.2 3 8 <0.1 <2 1111 7 130 2.6 8.6 4.6
Low 8.2 2 4 <0.1 <2 916 6.8 108 1.4 7.8 0.3
Avg 8.5 2.3 5.5 <0.1 <2 1031.7 6.9 121.4 1.9 8.2 1.9

SECTION II - RECYCELD WATER APPLICATION

The City of Turlock, as the Administrator of the recycled water program will supply to qualified
applicants recycled water for industrial, construction related and landscape irrigation uses.

Administrator
City of Turlock
Wayne Clay
Water Quality Control Division Manager
(209) 668-5590
156 South Broadway # 270
Turlock, CA 95380

At this time the City is unable to accurately predict the number of, nor demand for recycled water for
the uses outlined in this NOI.  However, we do anticipate interest from construction firms, other
landscape businesses and individual residents for mobile use of recycled water.

Operation and Management plans for the use of recycled water at Industrial, Construction and
Residential landscape sites shall consist of the following:

Compliance with the City of Turlock Recycled Water Program Rules and Regulations, the requirements of
SWRCB Order WQ 2014-0090 DWQ, California Water Code Titles 17 and 22 and RWQCB WDR Order #
R5-2015-0027.  In summary, these documents stipulate the methods in which the recycled water shall
be used: recycled water quality, control measures to be taken to prevent cross connections with potable
water supplies and recycled water supplies, proper signage, permitted methods for use in industrial,
construction related, landscape irrigation uses and proper reporting and training requirements.   All of
which are incorporated by title and attachment into the City of Turlock Recycled Water Program Rules
and Regulations.



28

See Attachment A of the distribution systems and approximate use areas.  As a portion of this NOI is
related to the provision of recycled water to mobile User’s, both residential and commercial the use
area for these Users is within Turlock proper and the surrounding geographic area of Stanislaus County.

SECTION III – DESCRIPTION OF WATER RECYCLING USE PERMIT PROGRAM

The City of Turlock, as the Administrator will maintain authority over the recycled water use program as
provided by the City’s Municipal Code, requirements of the Waste Discharge Requirements and
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements as imposed by the Regional Water Quality Control Board and
California Water Code Section 1210 relative to ownership of the recycled water.  Additionally, the City
and approved Users will enter into an agreement identifying the terms and conditions of recycled water
use.

The program will be implemented through consideration of SWRCB Division of Drinking Water, Title 17
and 22 requirements for the distribution of recycled water.  Further information is provided within the
Title 22 Engineering Study (Appendix A.)

On-site cross-connection control is important from the standpoint of protecting public health to prevent
connections between recycled water piping, sewage piping, and domestic water piping.

The mobile recycled water program prohibits any connection to potable water lines.  User’s will be
trained in identification of cross-connections and as a condition of their permit be prohibited from
causing any type of cross-connection condition.  Periodically the City will inspect permitted recycled
water User areas.

See Attachment B for Monitoring and Cross Connection Control forms

Monitoring and reporting will be performed pursuant to the monitoring and reporting program
Attachment C and “Attachment B” of the SWRCB Order WQ 2014-0090-DWQ and as required by DDW.
Monitoring reports will be submitted to the City.

At a minimum the Use area inspection program will consist of the following:
• Is there evidence of recycled water runoff from the site? If yes, the User must submit a sketch showing
the affected area(s) and estimated volume of runoff.
• Is there an odor due to recycled water at the site? If yes, the User must provide a description of the
apparent source, characterization, direction of travel, and any public use areas or off-site facilities
affected by the odors.
• Is there evidence of recycled water ponding, and/or evidence of mosquitoes breeding due to ponded
water?
• In the past year or since the last annual site inspection report, has the site owner, tenant or user
supervisor changed?
• What corrective actions are being taken to correct any problems noted in the report?

General requirements for the operation and maintenance of a fixed recycled water system (Industrial
Users.)

By accepting recycled water service, User agrees to comply with and enforce the City Rules and
Regulations for recycled water use.



29

Site Supervisor Designation
Approved Users must designate a representative to be the Site Supervisor of the site where recycled
water is used.  The Site Supervisor represents the owner, tenant, or property manager as a liaison to the
City.  The Site Supervisor must have the authority to carry out any requirements of the City.  It is
recommended that the Site Supervisor be an employee who is permanently stationed at the use site.  At
a minimum, the Site Supervisor must make frequent visits to the use site.

Changing the Site Supervisor
Users must notify the City immediately of any change in personnel for the Site Supervisor position.
Upon a change in personnel, the new Site Supervisor must attend a Site Supervisor Certification
Workshop within 120 days of the position change.  Failure to attend the Site Supervisor Certification
Workshop may result in the termination of recycled water service.

Site Supervisor Responsibilities
The Site Supervisor:
is responsible for the recycled water system at the site.

is responsible for the operation, maintenance, and prevention of potential violations on the recycled
water system.

must ensure that there are no cross-connections made between the potable and recycled water
systems.

must be present at all cross-connection tests.

must inform the City of all failures, violations and emergencies that occur involving the recycled or
potable water systems.

is expected to know the provisions contained in California Code of Regulations Title 17 and Title 22,
relating to the safe use of recycled water and the maintenance of accurate records.

is expected to know the basic concepts of backflow and cross-connection prevention, system testing,
and related emergency procedures.

is responsible for training personnel at the use site on the proper uses of recycled water.

must conduct an annual self-inspection of the use site and provide a written report to the City.

Maintenance
The Site Supervisor is required to perform preventive maintenance to ensure that the recycled water
system always remains in compliance with the Rules and Regulations.  As part of a preventive
maintenance program, the Site Supervisor should:

Perform regular inspections of the entire recycled water system including piping and valves, pumps,
storage facilities, controllers, etc.  Immediately repair all leaking pipes or valves, or any other noted
condition that violates the recycled water use requirements.



30

Check all recycled water identification signs, tags, stickers, and above grade pipe markings for their
proper placement and legibility.  Replace damaged, unreadable, or missing signs, tags, stickers, and pipe
markings.

Check recycled water use practices to eliminate ponding, runoff, and wind-blown spray conditions.
Establish and maintain an accurate record keeping system of all inspections, modifications, and repair
work.

Transfer of Property/Ownership
If the property is transferred to a new owner or tenant, or a new site supervisor becomes responsible
for system maintenance, the customer must notify the City within 30 days.

During emergency conditions relative to recycled water quality, quantity or accidental cross
connection.

Users’ contingency plan (see Title 22 Engineering Study) is to be implemented immediately after
receiving notification from the City of a delivery of recycled water that exceeds the disinfected 2.2
standard.   A reduction in recycled water delivery from the City due to maintenance activity or
reductions to address process control issues will be addressed through communication with User via
telephone as soon as the problem is apparent subsequent communication will be via e-mail and letter as
needed.  As the recycled water is meant to supplement potable water supplies, failure to supply
recycled water will not result in significant disruption of User’s potable water supply.

In the event of a process failure that impedes the use of recycled water in User’s facilities, recycled
water will be shut down by closing a valve located at the turnout.  The valve will remain closed until the
City notifies User the effluent quality has been restored.

In the event of an earthquake, flood, fire, major freeze, nearby construction, or other incident, which
could cause damage to the recycled or potable water systems, the Site Supervisor must inspect the
potable and recycled water systems for damage as soon as it is safe to do so.  If either system appears
damaged, both the potable and recycled water systems should be shut off at their points of connection.
The Site Supervisor must immediately contact the City for further instruction.

To prevent contamination, damage, or a public health hazard, the User may make emergency
modifications or repairs without the prior approval of the City.  As soon as possible after the
modification (but within three days), the User must notify the City of the emergency modifications and
file a written report.

Users of recycled water for Construction purposes and Residential Homeowner use

By accepting recycled water service, User agrees to comply with and enforce the City Rules and
Regulations for recycled water use

Complete mandatory recycled water use training

Maintain proper signage on vehicle and container as appropriate



31

Follow cross connection control requirements

Utilize recycled water in authorized areas only

Compliance with the recycling program as described will be the responsibility of both the City and the
User.  Failure by the User to abide by the Rules and Regulations will result in the discontinuation of
delivery of recycled water by the City.

This section describes the training that City and User employees will receive to ensure compliance
with the Recycled Water Program.

City Employee Training
City employees involved in the treatment and distribution of recycled water receive training dealing
with the tertiary treatment process and the regulations for use as it applies to their responsibilities.  The
emphasis is on the proper operation of the facility to protect public health and comply with the recycled
water regulations.

User Employee Training
User’s existing and new employees will be trained in the proper use of recycled water by the Site
Supervisor.  The Site Supervisor will receive City-sponsored training specific to the distribution and use
of recycled water.  Supervisory personnel and the Site Supervisor will ensure that employees are not
using recycled water carelessly or improperly. Employee training program will include, but not be limited
to, the following:

Site Supervisor Training
The designated Site Supervisor must attend a Site Supervisor Certification Workshop, provided by the
City.  Failure to attend the Site Supervisor Certification Workshop may result in the denial or termination
of recycled water service.

Personnel Training
The Site Supervisor is responsible for training all personnel involved with recycled water so they are
familiar with the Rules and Regulations.  At a minimum, the training program should convey the
following information:

The City’s recycled water, although highly treated, is non-potable and must never be used for human
consumption.

Regulations prohibit ponding, windblown spray, and runoff of recycled water.

Employees must understand that conditions such as ponding, overspray and runoff of recycled water
are not allowed and should be corrected immediately.

Working with nonpotable recycled water is safe if sound judgement is used and appropriate regulations
are followed.

State law prohibits a connection between the recycled water and the potable water systems.



32

Good personal hygiene must be followed (for example, washing hands after working with recycled
water).

Employees must understand where the recycled water and domestic water pipelines are located and
there is never to be a direct connection between the recycled water system and the potable water
system.

Employees must understand that adequate measures shall be taken to minimize public contact with
recycled water.

Employees must understand that any device, hose, pipe, meter, valve, tank, pump, truck, etc. which has
been used with recycled water may not be used to convey potable water nor attached to the potable
water system unless it is cleaned and properly disinfected.

Training programs should also instruct personnel in proper procedures for reporting unauthorized
discharges, identifying and correcting cross-connections, and modifying the system in the event of an
earthquake or other disaster.

Residential Users will also be trained in proper recycled water use specific to residential landscaping,
with conditions similar to those noted above and as noted in Attachment C.

SECTION IV – ADDITIONAL SITE SPECIFIC CONDITIONS
Mobile users of recycled water both Commercial and Residential will have specific limitations on the use
of recycled water.  See Attachment C.

The General Order WQ 2014-0090-DWQ adequately covers the restrictions for this project.  Similar
restrictions related to recycled water quality are listed in General Order WQ 2009-0006-DWQ and
CVRWQCB Order R5-2015-0027.  A Notice of Exemption has been filed for this project, please see
Attachment D.

SECTION V – WATER RECYCLING PROGRAM ADMINSTRATION

The City of Turlock will act as the Administrator of the recycled water program.  Responsible personnel
and specifics are noted below:

Administrator (City of Turlock)
Wayne Clay, Water Quality Control Division Manager
Office (209) 668-5590 ext 4443, Cellular Phone (209) 535-0287 E-Mail wclay@turlock.ca.us

As the Water Quality Control Division Manager Mr. Clay oversees the daily operation of the RWQCF and
insures compliance with the City’s waste discharge requirements as well as any programs related to the
City’s recycled water program.  Additionally, Garner Reynolds the Regulatory Affairs Division Manager
will provide additional assistance in the management of the Recycled Water Program.



33

EXPLANATION OF WATER REUSE PERMIT

Effective Date of Permit and Expiration Date
Leave blank. To be filled out by City of Turlock employee.

Name of User
This is the name of the person(s), company or entity that owns the property on which recycled
the water will be used.

User’s Agent
This is the name of any representative designated by the User to handle water pick-up. If the
User will pick up the water, leave this section blank.

Vehicle Information
Provide specific information on the vehicle(s) and tanker/trailer assembly as appropriate.
Applicant must also attach to application; proof of valid vehicle registration, workers
compensation insurance and liability insurance for each vehicle applying for the permit.

Method of Water Distribution

Recycled Water Filling Station located at Turlock Regional Water Quality Control Facility, 901
South Walnut Road, Turlock CA 95380.

Application Method and Use of Water
Check all that apply.

Volume of Recycled Water
This is the estimate, in gallons, of the amount of recycled water to be used on the property.

Signage Required
Leave Blank. To be filled out by City of Turlock employee.

Where Applied
Provide Address, City and County in which the recycled water will be used. Include the
expected date you plan to start using the recycled water.

Signature of Producer/Distributor
Leave Blank. To be filled out by City of Turlock employee.

Signature of User
Signature of “User” named on permit form.

Signature of User’s Agent
Signature of “User’s Agent” named on permit form, if applicable.



34

City of Turlock Recycled Water Program
RECYCLED WATER PERMIT

PRODUCER/DISTRIBUTOR:
City of Turlock Municipal Services
156 S. Broadway Ave Ste 270
Turlock, CA 95380
(209) 668-5590

EFFECTIVE DATE OF PERMIT____________________ EXPIRATION DATE ___________________

This Use Permit must be available for inspection at all times. The recycled water User/User’s Agent must
carry a copy in the tanker truck at all times and present it to the Producer/Distributor for water pickups.
Permit is subject to RWQCB Order R-5-2015-0027, City of Turlock Rules and Regulations for Recycled
Water Use and other applicable Federal, State and County regulations.

USER INFORMATION
NAME OF USER _____________________________________________ PHONE: _______________

ADDRESS___________________________________________________E-MAIL: ________________

USER’S AGENT INFORMATION
USER’S AGENT (if different from above) ___________________________PHONE: _______________

ADDRESS___________________________________________________E-MAIL: ________________

VEHICLE INFORMATION
Vehicle License # __________________________ State________________
Tanker/Trailer # ___________________________  Capacity/Volume____________________Gallons

A Water Reuse Release Form must be filled out for each construction meter and retained at the site and on the
User/User’s Agent vehicle. Users and User’s Agents shall adhere to the attached Guidelines for Worker Protection.

RECYCLED WATER USE INFORMATION
NOT TO BE USED FOR STORM DRAIN FLUSHING

VOLUME OF RECYCLED WATER AUTHORIZED: _____________________ GALLONS PER DAY

METHOD OF WATER DISTRIBUTION: {   } FILL STATION AT RWQCF

APPLICATION METHOD: {   } TANK TRUCK {  } SPRAY {  } WASH WATER
{   } OTHER: __________________________

USE OF THE WATER: {  } COMPACTION {  } DUST CONTROL {  } IRRIGATION
{  } OTHER: ______________

SIGNAGE REQUIRED: {  } TRUCK {  } PROJECT SITE COMMENTS: _________________________

WHERE APPLIED:

ADDRESS:____________________________________________________START DATE:____________

ADDRESS:____________________________________________________START DATE:____________



CERTIFICATION
I HEREBY CERTIFY UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY THAT THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS APPLICATION AND IN ANY ATTACHMENT
IS TRUE AND ACCURATE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE. I ALSO CERTIFY THAT I HAVE READ AND AGREE TO ABIDE BY ALL
APPLICABLE RULES & REGULATIONS FOR RECYCLED WATER USE.   PURSUANT TO  CITY OF TURLOCK  MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 6-5
MAKING UNAUTHORIZED CONNECTIONS IS PROHIBITED AND PENALIZEABLE. TMC. 2-11 ALLOWS A MAXIMUM PENALTY OF $1000 PER
INCIDENT.

SIGNATURE OF

PRODUCER/DISTRIBUTOR ________________________ PRINT___________________TITLE ____________ DATE_______

SIGNATURE OF USER ____________________________ PRINT___________________TITLE ____________ DATE_______

SIGNATURE OF USER’S AGENT____________________  PRINT___________________TITLE ____________ DATE_______

GUIDELINES FOR WORKER PROTECTION
(State of California Division of Drinking Water)

A. Workers should be informed that although reclaimed water has been treated to lower health risks, bacterial and viral contamination is
still present and potentially may cause illness or infection. Contact with reclaimed water by ingestion, inhalation of mist, or on cuts
or abrasions should be avoided, and the precautionary measures listed below should be carefully reviewed and followed.

B. Precautionary measures should be taken to minimize worker contact with constituents of reclaimed water.
1. Workers should not be subjected to reclaimed water sprays, mists, or aerosols.
2. Workers should be protected with protective clothing when there will be more than casual contact with the reclaimed water.

C. Safe drinking water should be supplied for workers. Where bottled water is provided, the water should be in contamination-proof
containers and protected from reclaimed water and dust.

D. Hand washing facilities should be provided consisting of potable water supply, hand washing soap, and single use sanitary paper
towels. The importance of hand washing should be stressed when working with reclaimed water, especially before eating or
smoking.

E. Workers should not apply reclaimed water by hand held nozzles or other hand held devices that can produce sprays, mists, or
aerosols.

F. Precautions should be taken to avoid contamination of food taken into reclaimed water use areas. Food should not be taken into
areas still wet with reclaimed water.

G. Workers should be notified that reclaimed water is in use. Notification should include the posting of conspicuous warning signs with
proper wording of sufficient size to be clearly read. In those locations where English is not the primary language of the workers, the
signs should be in the appropriate language as well as in English.

H. An adequate first aid kit should be available on location. Cuts or abrasions should be promptly washed, disinfected, and bandaged.

I. Public contact with reclaimed water shall be avoided, to the extent practical, under the normal use at the reclaimed water site.

J. In all areas where recycled water is used that are accessible to the public, warning signs shall be installed at adequate intervals
around the use area as required by the District.

K. Recycled water shall not be applied where it could contact walkways, passing vehicles, buildings, drinking water facilities, storm
drains, or enter areas where food is handled or eaten.

L. Adequate measures shall be taken to prevent ponding, and to prevent run off of recycled water from the authorized recycled water use
area unless it is specifically allowed by the RWQCB or an attachment to this Permit.

M. Spray of recycled water shall not be allowed to contact an external drinking water fountain.

N. There shall be no irrigation or impoundment of recycled water within a minimum of 50 feet of any water well.

O. Distributor’s vehicles used for transportation and distribution of recycled water must have water tight valves and fittings, and must not
leak, and tanks must be cleaned of contaminants prior to use. A truck or tank that has contained material from a septic tank or
cesspool shall not be used to convey recycled water.

P. Distributor’s vehicles that convey recycled water shall be clearly labeled in a prominent location with language stating in English
“Recycled Water, (Reclaimed Water) Do Not Drink”.

Q. Recycled water shall not be put into piping or a storage facility without specific written authorization from the COT.

I HAVE READ AND UNDERSTOOD THESE GUIDELINES.

USER____________________ DATE_______ USER’S AGENT_________________ DATE__________



ATTACHMENT A

USER AGREEMENTS



CITY OF TURLOCK – MUNICIPAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT
Residential Recycled Water Use
Application and Agreement

Customer Name

Service Address City Zip

Phone Email Address

License Plate #s of vehicles used to collect recycled water

Recycled Water Use Location:

Recycled water will be used for:

Irrigation of trees with hose/bucket Irrigation of gardens with hose/bucket

Irrigation of turf with hose/bucket

Other

What type and size of container (must be secured with a lid) will you use to collect the recycled water?
Open containers are prohibited for transport of recycled water.

Things to know about the use of recycled water:

1. What is tertiary-treated recycled water and is it safe?
Recycled water is wastewater that has been processed through primary, secondary, and tertiary
treatment, and disinfection with ultraviolet light must meet strict standards of the California State
Water Resources Control Board Division of Drinking Water (DDW).

2. What can I use recycled water for?
Based on DDW, Title 22 requirements, tertiary-treated recycled water can be used to:
 Water your trees, gardens, vegetables, and lawns; and
 Wash your car, outdoor furniture and hard surfaces (paths, walls, windows, etc.)

3. What is this recycled water NOT suitable for?
• Drinking
• Cooking or use in the kitchen
• Bathing or showering

• Filling swimming pools or spas
• Children’s water toys
• Plumbing it to the household domestic plumbing system



4. Why is recycled water not safe to drink? What happens if I drink it?
Tertiary-treated recycled water is not approved for drinking. If you accidentally drink recycled water, there
is no need to panic. Should you experience any adverse symptoms or feel unwell, consult your doctor.

5. Can I water my plants with recycled water?
Yes, all plants can be watered with recycled water. This includes edible plants such as fruit trees,
vegetables and herbs. Just remember to wash all fruits, vegetables, and herbs with drinking water prior
to consumption.

Recycled water tends to have a higher salt content than drinking water. We advise you to direct the recycled
water to the roots of the plants and not the foliage. This will protect them from potential leaf burn.

6. Do water-use restrictions (conservation) apply to recycled water?
No. Water-use restrictions do not apply to recycled water. However, recycled water is a valuable
resource and should not be wasted.

7. Who develops the health standards for recycled water?
Recycled water is strictly monitored to ensure it meets water quality standards set by the California State
Water Resources Control Board Division of Drinking Water and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA).

8. How much will recycled water cost me?
Nothing, it’s free.

9. How much recycled water can I pick up at a time?
Maximum per load is 300 gallons. If you need more than 300 gallons per pickup you can obtain a
Recycled Water Commercial Fill-Station Permit that includes a fee for the recycled water provided.

Keep in mind the size of your vehicle when selecting transport containers. Water weighs 8.345 pounds
and two 55-gallon drums of recycled water will weigh a total of 917.95 pounds. Ensure your vehicle can
handle the amount of recycled water you collect and transport. The City of Turlock is not liable for any
damages to you or your vehicle(s) due to your participation in the residential recycled water fill station
program.

10. What are the rules and regulations for residential use of recycled water?
a) Fill out an application and sign the Recycled Water Use Agreement. Obtain COT approval.
b) Collection and storage containers shall have COT’s Recycled Water Notice stickers placed on them to

ensure everyone is aware recycled water is stored in the container and the water is not suitable for
human consumption. The stickers are available at the Municipal Services office at 156 South
Broadway Ave., Turlock CA.

c) c) Recycled water shall not be placed in a storage container that is connected to
the landscape irrigation system, the onsite drinking water supply or any other
potable water supply system.



d) Recycled water shall not be discharged to the street gutter or storm drain system. If you have
leftover recycled water and want to dispose of it, either discharge it to a landscaped area or to
the sanitary sewer system via an onsite cleanout.

e) After working with recycled water, remember to apply hand sanitizer or wash hands with
soap and domestic drinking water, especially before eating or smoking.

f) Do not DRINK recycled water or use it for food preparation.
g) Take precautions to avoid contact with food while using recycled water.
h) Wash vegetables with domestic water prior to eating or cooking (the majority of the

vegetables in the grocery stores are irrigated with recycled water).
i) No one shall play with or drink recycled water.
j) The City may conduct site visits to ensure your proper use of recycled water and to

ensure the health and safety of your family and the public.

Procedures to Obtain Recycled Water

a) Complete this use agreement form and bring it to City Hall at 156 South Broadway, Municipal
Services Department, Monday-Friday 9:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m.

b) Staff will schedule required training in the proper use of recycled water and procedures for
collection.  , and answer any questions you may have.

c) During training you will be provided with Recycled Water Notice stickers that need to be
placed on all containers used to transport and store recycled water.

d) After training is complete and stickers have been installed on the containers, you will be , issued a
wallet card and be able to pick up recycled water during the designated residential fill station
“open” hours.

e) You will be required to complete the sign in sheet including your Recycled Water User Number
shown on the wallet card you received at the time of training. Do not share your wallet card with
others.  All users must receive training to ensure they are informed of the use requirements.

f) You will be required to enter your name, date, service address, and amount collected on the
recycled water residential fill station log at the time of pickup.

Certification Statement/Signature Section
By checking this box, I understand all the conditions of this agreement and agree to comply with these
conditions and to conform to COT requirements for recycled water use at my residential property.
Failure to comply with the conditions of this agreement may lead COT to revoke permission for meto
use recycled water at my residential property.

First Name Last Name

Residential Property Address City

Signature Date



City of Turlock Recycled Water Program
Procedures for commercial and residential customers to obtain recycled water at the RWQCF Fill Station

1. Complete an application and Staff will contact customer to make an appointment for the initial pickup

2. During the customer’s initial pickup of recycled water staff will meet them at the RWQCF fill station and
provide a one-on-one training with the commercial or residential customer

3. Residential customers will be given RW Notice stickers (provided by COT) to place on their containers
used for transporting and storing recycled water.  Commercial users must have water tanks labeled
“Recycled Water- Do Not Drink”

4. Customers will fully complete information required on the fill station log sheet

5. After initial pickup and one-on-one training customers will be able to pick up recycled water at the fill
station without COT staff present.  Fill station hours are Monday – Sunday 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.



ATTACHMENT B

RWQCF FLOW SCHEMATIC





ATTACHMENT C

RECYCLED WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS




















































































































































































	Agenda
	5A
	5B
	5C
	5D
	5E
	5F
	5G
	5H
	5I
	5J
	5K
	5L
	5M
	5N
	5O
	5P
	5Q
	7A

